

August 2020 Report No. 20-013

Charles D. Baker Governor Karyn E. Polito Lieutenant Governor Stephanie Pollack MassDOT Secretary & CEO

The Characterization of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement for HMA Surface Courses in Massachusetts

Principal Investigator Dr. Walaa Mogawer University of Massachusetts Dartmouth



Technical Report Document Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No). 3. R	Recipient's Catalog No.		
20-013	n/a	n/a	1		
4 Title and Subtitle		5 Re	eport Date		
Characterization of Reclaimed Asp	halt Pavement (RAP)	for HMA Aug	August 2020		
Surface Courses in Massachusetts	,	6 Pe	erforming Organization Code	<u>,</u>	
		0. 10 n/a	choming organization code	2	
		11/ u	formine One since the Deserv		
Walaa S. Mogawar, Alexander I. A	usterman Kewin Stua	rt 20	3. Performing Organization Report No.		
walaa 5. Wogawel, Alexandel J. A	tusterman, Kevin Stua	20-	015		
9. Performing Organization Name and Address	_	10. V	10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)		
University of Massachusetts Dartm	outh	n/a	n/a		
285 Old Westport Road		11. C	Contract or Grant No.		
North Dartmouth, MA 02747					
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address	an autotion	13. T	Sype of Report and Period Co	overed	
Office of Transportation Planning	sportation		al Report	at 20201	
Ton Dork Diago, Suite 4150, Desten	MA 02116		pleniber 2017 - Augu	ist 2020]	
Tell Falk Flaza, Suite 4150, Boston	I, MA 02110	14. S	ponsoring Agency Code		
		n/a			
15. Supplementary Notes					
Project Champion – Edmund Naras	s, MassDOT				
16. Abstract The goal of this study was to understand the properties of the reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) sources available in Massachusetts and develop guidelines or recommendations for using RAP in new hot-mix asphalt surface course mixtures. MassDOT specifications allow up to 15% RAP by dry weight in surface mixtures without using a softer- grade virgin binder or using blending equations to determine the appropriate virgin binder grade. RAPs from 13 sources located geographically across the state were tested to determine important properties such as binder content, recovered RAP binder grade, and maximum theoretical specific gravity. The typically specified PG 64-28 asphalt binder used in the state was obtained from regional suppliers of this grade and tested to confirm the performance grade. Analyses were conducted to evaluate each recommended RAP specification method, and accuracies of these methods were investigated by evaluating the performances of actual mixtures incorporating different RAPs and virgin binder sources. The MassDOT specification allowing up to 15% RAP by dry weight of mixture was found to be not valid and, in many cases, not stringent enough. The findings supported that a specification change is warranted. It is suggested that these changes include requiring testing of critical RAP and virgin binder properties for all mixtures; utilization of blending chart equations to estimate blended binder properties; and subsequent mixture performance testing to					
17. Key Word		18. Distribution Statem	Distribution Statement		
Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement, RAP, S Balanced Mixture Design, Rutting, Cra	pecifications, acking	unrestricted			
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (o	f this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
unclassified	unclassified		99	n/a	
Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)	Reprodu	ction of complete	d page authorized	<u>I</u>	

Characterization of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement (RAP) for HMA Surface Courses in Massachusetts

Final Report

Prepared By:

Professor Walaa S. Mogawer, P.E., F.ASCE Principal Investigator

> Alexander J. Austerman, P.E. Senior Research Engineer

> > Kevin D. Stuart Consultant

University of Massachusetts Dartmouth Highway Sustainability Research Center 151 Martine Street – Room 131 Fall River, MA 02723

Prepared For:

Massachusetts Department of Transportation Office of Transportation Planning Ten Park Plaza, Suite 4150 Boston, MA 02116

August 2020

Acknowledgements

Prepared in cooperation with the Massachusetts Department of Transportation, Office of Transportation Planning, and the United States Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration.

The Project Team would like to acknowledge the efforts of Edmund Naras (MassDOT Pavement Management Engineer), Mark J. Brum (MassDOT Materials Quality Systems Engineer), and Gregory Doyle (FHWA Massachusetts Division Construction Quality Engineer). The Project Team would also like to thank members of the industry for supplying the various materials required for the study, including: Northeast Paving, All States Materials Group, J. H. Lynch & Sons Inc., Brox Industries, Aggregate Industries, P.J. Keating, Tri State Materials, Bitumar Inc., Pike Industries, and Irving Oil. Finally, the Project Team would like to thank graduate students Ahmed Soliman and Ibrahim Abdalfattah and undergraduate students Christopher Dill, Marco Rocha, and Tyler Jacob, who assisted with some testing for the project.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation or the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Executive Summary

This study of "Characterization of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement (RAP) for HMA Surface Courses in Massachusetts" was undertaken as part of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) Research Program. This program is funded with Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) State Planning and Research (SPR) funds. Through this program, applied research is conducted on topics of importance to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts transportation agencies.

The overall goal of this study was to understand the properties of the reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) sources available in Massachusetts and, based on these properties, to develop guidelines or recommendations for using RAP in new hot-mix asphalt (HMA) surface course mixtures.

The main constituents of any RAP stockpile are asphalt and aggregates; hence, it provides an environmentally conscious alternative source for the main materials used in producing new HMA mixtures. Using larger RAP contents conserves natural resources and can also lead to significant economic savings. The potential drawback to using more RAP is it contains a highly aged/oxidized asphalt binder, which is stiffer and more brittle as compared to a virgin binder. Using more of this stiff and brittle binder has raised concerns that these mixtures will be less durable and more prone to distress. Therefore, being able to accurately specify the correct amount of RAP to use in a mixture without sacrificing performance is of utmost importance.

The amount of RAP to be used in a mixture is typically specified by state transportation agencies following the guidance of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), which recommends various methods: (1) percent RAP by the dry weight of the mixture; (2) RAP binder ratio (RAPBR); and (3) binder blending charts. The current MassDOT specification allows up to 15% RAP by dry weight of the mixture and requires the typical performance grade (PG 64-28) virgin asphalt binder to be used. Higher percentages of RAP are currently not allowed in surface mixtures. This limitation is based on the specification objective to use as much RAP as practical while simultaneously maintaining the typical binder grade required for the mixture. Using RAP amounts above 15% would likely reduce the binder grade at the intermediate and low temperatures in the resultant mixture to an unacceptable level (i.e., warmer than the typical temperatures for a PG 64-28). Only by evaluating these recommended specification methods, using the properties of the materials available in Massachusetts, can the validity of the MassDOT specification be determined. This evaluation should indicate whether more or less RAP can be specified for surface mixtures.

Thirteen RAP stockpiles were sampled from various locations around Massachusetts from 2017 to 2019. Each stockpile was tested to determine important properties of the RAP, including binder content, recovered binder performance grade, maximum theoretical specific gravity, recovered aggregate gradation, and recovered aggregate specific gravity. Similarly, the typical virgin asphalt binder used in Massachusetts (PG 64-28) was obtained from four

supply sources in the state and tested to determine the samples' properties. These RAP and virgin binder properties were then used to determine the accuracy of the AASHTO-recommended RAP specification methods, using the actual properties of materials located in Massachusetts. Moreover, mixtures were developed and evaluated using a balanced mixture design (BMD) procedure by incorporating specific RAP stockpiles and virgin binders exhibiting the extremes in available properties. Appropriately aged mixtures were developed with 15% RAP, 25% RAP, and 35% RAP and evaluated for their stiffness (dynamic modulus) and performance characteristics (rutting, moisture susceptibility, intermediate-temperature cracking), using a suite of laboratory tests.

Analysis of the RAP property testing data indicated that no geographic trends in properties could be made. Significant variations were noted in the performance grades of the recovered RAP binders and the RAP binder contents. Year-to-year testing of the same RAPs also indicated variance in the performance grades of the recovered RAP binders. Finally, high variability in aggregate gradation results for specific RAP stockpiles were also noted.

Virgin binder testing indicated one of the four sources tested had intermediate- and lowtemperature continuous grades close to the specification criterion. This virgin binder can potentially have less capacity to accommodate RAP in any mixture, because adding even small amounts of aged RAP binder might not maintain the blended binder in the mixture at a PG 64-28.

The current MassDOT specification, which allows up to 15% RAP in surface mixtures by dry weight of the mixture without using a softer-grade virgin binder or blending equations, was not valid based on blended binder properties. Analyses using AASHTO blending equations and laboratory-determined RAP and virgin binder properties indicated that 28.9% of the time, the required PG 64-28 would not be maintained. The disparity between the estimated amounts of allowable RAP that would maintain a PG 64-28, ranging from 3.1% to 46.8%, shows the high influence of RAP source and virgin binder sources on the amount of RAP that can be added to a mixture. Utilizing the RAPBR for specifying RAP in lieu of the percent by dry weight of the mixture produced similar results. Therefore, a specification change for MassDOT is warranted.

All mixtures incorporating up to 35% RAP passed the rutting and moisture susceptibility performance tests. Statistical analysis of the mixture cracking performance test data indicated universally that virgin binder source significantly impacted all cracking performance measures. RAP source and percent RAP also had a significant effect on the intermediate cracking measure. However, there was inconsistency among all of the cracking performance tests except that virgin binder source has a significant effect. Although the low- and intermediate-temperature mixture test results often showed that RAP source, virgin binder source, and percent RAP had a significant effect, the lack of pass-fail criteria for these tests precluded stating exactly which mixtures were balanced or unbalanced.

In an attempt to quantify the amount of blending of the RAP and virgin binders, a microscopic technique was used to evaluate actual RAP mixtures, simulating real-world blending conditions. The microscope technique used was energy dispersive X-ray

spectroscopy (EDS) scanning electron microscopy. EDS mapping allows for the determination of the distribution and proportion of the elements at specific locations within the specimen. Since an asphalt binder is elementally composed of carbon and sulfur, a tracer element, titanium dioxide, was added to the virgin binder so it could be distinguished from the RAP binder in the sample. The tracer element was blended with the virgin binder prior to specimen fabrication. Therefore, in the mixture sample, virgin binder was identified as areas with both carbon and titanium. RAP binder alone, that did not blend with the virgin binder, was identified by carbon only, without titanium. Partially blended RAP and virgin binders consisted of both carbon and titanium, but at lower concentrations than the purely virgin binder areas. Aggregate areas of the specimens were composed primarily of silica, so they were dissimilar from the binder areas in terms of elemental composition. Overall the blending analysis using EDS suggested that the assumption of 100% blending between RAP and virgin binders is inaccurate. Furthermore, the analysis illustrated that the degree of blending in a mixture is a function of RAP content, source, and properties.

The data and analysis showed that one specific RAP percentage cannot be specified for all surface course mixtures in Massachusetts, as the properties of RAP and virgin binder are functions of the source of the materials. Several specification recommendations are presented for using RAP in new surface mixtures. These recommendations address required RAP property testing and frequency, testing of the virgin binders, selection of a method to determine RAP aggregate specific gravity, and RAP aggregate gradation variability. Overall, a three-tiered approach is suggested to properly specify RAP in a mixture, even at RAP contents ≤15%:

- The properties of the RAP (including binder content, recovered binder grade, etc.) and virgin binder properties must be determined.
- AASHTO blending charts equations need to be utilized to estimate the RAP amount at which the desired blended binder properties of the mixture are obtained, which in turn will assist in properly limiting the amount of RAP.
- After the appropriate RAP content is determined, the actual mixture to be produced must be tested to ensure adequate performance after appropriate aging that is related to the in-service aging experienced.

Using this type of three-tiered approach should help ensure that quality mixtures are produced, and the amount of RAP utilized is appropriate to maintain performance.

Table of Contents

Technical Report Document Page	i
Acknowledgements	v
Disclaimer	v
Executive Summary	vii
Table of Contents	xi
List of Tables	xiii
List of Figures	xv
List of Acronyms	xvii
1.0 Introduction and Objectives	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Problem Statement	3
1.3 Objectives	4
2.0 Experimental Plan	5
3.0 Reclaimed Asphalt Pavements	7
3.1 RAP Sampling and RAP Source	7
3.2 RAP Properties	8
3.2.1. Binder Content	8
3.2.2. Extracted/Recovered RAP Binder Performance Properties	
3.2.4 RAP Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity	10
3.2.5. Recovered RAP Aggregate Gradation	
3.2.6. Recovered RAP Aggregate Specific Gravity	20
3.3 RAP Property Changes from Year to Year	
4.0 Virgin Asphalt Binders	
4.1 Sampling of Virgin Asphalt Binders	
4.2 Performance Grade	
4.3 Virgin Binder Performance Properties	
5.0 Analysis of Methods to Specify RAP in a Mixture	
5.1 Percent Dry Weight of Mixture Method	
5.2 RAP Diluci Ralio	
5.5 Diciding Charts	
6.0 Validate Allowable RAP Percentages	
7.0 Mixture Design with RAP Using Balanced Mix Design Approach	39
7.1 Mixture Aging Methods	
7.1.1. Short-Term Aging	39
7.1.2. Long-Term Aging	40
7.2 Mixture Design	
8.0 Dynamic Modulus and Mixture Performance Testing	45
8.1 Dynamic Modulus E*	
8.2 Hamburg Wheel Tracking Test for Rutting and Moisture Susceptibility	
8.3 Aspnait Pavement Analyzer for Kutting	
0.4 Presidenty muck for intermediate remperature Cracking	

8.5 Indirect Tension Asphalt Cracking Test for Intermediate Temperature Cracking	52
8.6 Disc-Shaped Compact Tension for Low-Temperature Cracking	54
9.0 Analysis of Performance Test Results	57
10.0 Degree of Blending Between RAP and Virgin Binder in Mixtures	59
10.1 Background	59
10.2 Selection of Blending Analysis Method	60
10.3 Materials Used for Blending Analysis	63
10.3.1. Tracer Element	63
10.3.2. Virgin Binder	63
10.3.3. RAP Selection	63
10.3.4. Virgin Aggregates	63
10.4 Specimen Fabrication and Preparation	64
10.4.1. Tracer Element Dose Determination	64
10.4.2. Mixture Design and Fabrication Details	65
10.5 Blending Analysis Using EDS SEM Microanalysis	67
10.6 Blending Results	71
11.0 Conclusions	73
11.1 RAP Properties	73
11.2 Virgin Binder Properties	74
11.3 Allowable RAP Percentage and Blending Equations	74
11.4 Mixture Design	75
11.5 Mixture Stiffness and Performance Tests	75
11.6 Blending	75
12.0 Recommendations	77
13.0 References	79

List of Tables

Table 3.1: NCHRP Report 752 proposed RAP sampling and testing guidelines for high RAP content
mixes
Table 3.2: RAP binder content and extracted/recovered RAP binder performance grade 9
Table 3.3: Extracted/recovered RAP binder rutting performance properties (MSCR)
Table 3.4: Extracted/recovered RAP binder fatigue performance properties (LAS)
Table 3.5: District 1 RAP recovered aggregate properties 12
Table 3.6: District 2 RAP recovered aggregate properties 13
Table 3.7: District 3 RAP recovered aggregate properties 14
Table 3.8: District 4 RAP recovered aggregate properties 15
Table 3.9: District 5 RAP recovered aggregate properties 16
Table 3.10: Back calculated RAP aggregate bulk specific gravity from RAP G_{mm} effects on typical
12.5 mm 15% RAP mixture volumetric properties
Table 3.11: Example of replicate post-ignition oven gradation measurements exceeding suggested
NCHRP 752 limits
Table 3.12: Back calculated RAP aggregate bulk specific gravity from G _{mm} vs. measured bulk
specific gravity
Table 3.13: Differences in average RAP stockpile properties, year to year
Table 4.1: Virgin binder performance grade 23
Table 4.2: Virgin binder rutting performance properties (MSCR)
Table 4.3: Virgin binder fatigue performance properties (LAS)
Table 5.1: AASHTO M 323 guidance on how to specify RAP use in Superpave asphalt mixtures 27
Table 5.2: Predicted allowable percent RAP by dry weight of mixture to maintain blended PG 64-28
binder in mixture
Table 5.3: RAPBR _{max} and predicted allowable percent RAP to maintain blended PG 64-28 binder in
mixture
Table 5.4: Calculated blended binder grade by AASHTO M 323 blending equation at 15% RAP33
Table 5.5: Calculated blended binder grade by AASHTO M 323 blending equation at 25% RAP 34
Table 5.6: Calculated blended binder grade by AASHTO M 323 blending equation at 35% RAP35
Table 6.1: Verification of AASHTO equations prediction of PG 64-28 in blended binder of
mixture
Table 7.1: State-approved surface course mixture design used in study
Table 7.2: Mixture design using BMD approach – volumetric properties and performance
Table 8.1: HWTT test results at 45°C (short-term aged)
Table 8.2: SCB FIT test results at 25°C (short-term aged)
Table 8.3: SCB FIT test results at 25°C (long-term aged)
Table 8.4: IDEAL-CT test results at 15°C (long-term aged)
Table 8.5: DC(T) test results at -18°C (long-term aged)
Table 9.1: ANOVA statistical analysis summary – three cracking tests 57
Table 10.1: Average original and traced virgin binder properties

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Experimental plan	6
Figure 3.1: RAP stockpile sampling location, year, and type	7
Figure 7.1: NCHRP 09-54 recommended aging to match 16 years' field aging at 20 mm below	
pavement surface	41
Figure 7.2: NCHRP 09-54 recommended aging to match 16 years' field aging at 6 mm below	
pavement surface	41
Figure 8.1: Master curves for mixtures fabricated with "stiff" RAP source	46
Figure 8.2: Master curves for mixtures fabricated with "soft" RAP source	47
Figure 8.3: Master curves comparison, "stiff " vs. "soft" RAP source	47
Figure 10.1: Blending analysis methodology	62
Figure 10.2: Sample preparation for EDS SEM analysis	66
Figure 10.3: Example of EDS maps showing elements	68
Figure 10.4: Example of EDS element spectrum plots for actual blended and 100% blended	
specimens	70
Figure 10.5: Average degree of partial blending results	71

List of Acronyms

Acronym	Expansion
AASHTO	American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials
AMPT	Asphalt Mixture Performance Test
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
APA	Asphalt Pavement Analyzer
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials
BMD	Balanced Mixture Design
CG	Continuous Grade
DC(T)	Disk-Shaped Compact Tension
DSR	Dynamic Shear Rheometer
EDS	Energy Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy
ESAL	Equivalent Single Axle Load
FE	Fracture Energy
FHWA	Federal Highway Administration
FI	Flexibility Index
FIT	Flexibility Index Test
G _{mm}	Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity
HMA	Hot Mix Asphalt
HWTT	Hamburg Wheel Tracking Test
IDEAL	Indirect Tensile Asphalt Cracking Test
IDT	Indirect Tension Test
J _{nr}	Non-recoverable Creep Compliance
LAS	Linear Amplitude Sweep
MassDOT	Massachusetts Department of Transportation
MSCR	Multiple Stress Creep Recovery
NAPA	National Asphalt Pavement Association
NCHRP	National Cooperative Highway Research Program
N _f	Number of Cycles to Failure
NMAS	Nominal Maximum Aggregate Size
PG	Performance Grade
RAP	Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement
RAPBR	RAP Binder Ratio
RAPBR _{max}	Maximum RAP Binder Ratio
SCB	Semicircular Bend
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
SGC	Superpave Gyratory Compactor
SIP	Stripping Inflection Point
SPR	State Planning and Research
VFA	Voids Filled with Asphalt
VMA	Voids in Mineral Aggregate

1.0 Introduction and Objectives

This study of the Characterization of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement (RAP) for HMA Surface Courses in Massachusetts was undertaken as part of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) Research Program. This program is funded with Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) State Planning and Research (SPR) funds. Through this program, applied research is conducted on topics of importance to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts transportation agencies.

1.1 Background

Similar to other state transportation agencies and the asphalt mixture industry, the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) is working concurrently to achieve two significant goals: Optimize the use of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) in asphalt mixtures, and design mixtures that have balanced performance in regard to certain pavement distresses, such as low- and intermediate-temperature cracking and high-temperature rutting.

The main constituents of RAP are asphalt and aggregates; hence, it provides an environmentally conscious alternative source for the main materials used in producing new asphalt mixtures. Recycling RAP in this way undoubtedly conserves natural resources. Optimizing the amount of RAP used in asphalt mixtures, especially when using RAP contents greater than 25% by the weight of mixture, can also lead to significant economic savings (1).

RAP use has been largely limited due to concerns associated with the aged asphalt binder contained in the RAP, which is highly oxidized due to years of in-service aging. This aging provides drastically different binder properties as compared to a virgin binder, with the RAP binder being stiffer and more brittle. Using larger amounts of a stiff and brittle binder in a mixture has raised concerns that these mixtures will be less durable and more prone to distress. Many approaches have been employed in order to qualitatively analyze the impact of using more RAP in a mixture design, with all of them centering upon some sort of performance measure. More recently, this process has been formalized into what is now known as a balanced mix design (BMD) approach. Under this approach, a mixture is tested and evaluated to ensure that adequate performance is achieved. This is contrary to approaches undertaken in the past that relied heavily on volumetric measures to ensure an adequate mixture design. These approaches would likely not be able to distinguish the true mixture performance ramifications resulting from using more RAP in a mixture, thus potentially leading to subpar performing mixtures being produced and placed. The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) BMD Task Force defined a BMD as "Asphalt mix design using performance tests on appropriately conditioned specimens that address multiple modes of distress, taking into consideration mix aging, traffic, climate, and location within the pavement structure" (2).

RAP use in a mixture is typically specified by state transportation agencies following the guidance of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). AASHTO M 323-17 "Standard Specifications for Superpave Volumetric Mix Design" (3) provides two guidelines for incorporating RAP into an asphalt mixture. The first guideline as presented by Table 2 of AASHTO M 323 (3) shows how to specify the percent RAP by the dry weight of the mixture, which is how state transportation agencies have historically specified RAP. This specification method does not account for differences in RAP source properties, like RAP binder content, which could lead to different amounts of aged RAP binder being added to a mixture because of varying RAP binder contents. The second guideline as presented by Table 3 of AASHTO M 323 (3) shows how to specify RAP according to the RAP binder ratio (RAPBR). This specification accounts for different RAP sources contributing different amounts of aged binder to a mixture by controlling the amount of RAP binder being used. For a given RAPBR, less RAP will be used in a mixture when its binder content is high, and more when its binder content is low. Hence, using this specification method might provide greater control over the resultant performance grade (PG) of a blended asphalt binder in a mixture incorporating RAP, especially when using high RAP contents. AASHTO M 323 suggests using Equation 1, as follows, to calculate RAPBR. Once an RAPBR is specified by an agency, the percent RAP by dry weight of the mixture (PRAP) can then be calculated.

$$RAPBR = \frac{(Pb_{RAP})(P_{RAP})}{100(Pb_{Total})}$$
(1)

Where:

 $\overline{RAPBR} = RAP$ binder ratio. $Pb_{RAP} =$ Binder content of RAP. $P_{RAP} =$ Percent RAP by dry weight of mixture. $Pb_{Total} =$ Total binder content of the mixture.

In addition to the two guidelines for specifying RAP, AASHTO M 323 also provides blending equations (3) that account for variations in RAP binder properties in terms of their PGs at high, intermediate, and low temperatures. These equations are used to maintain a specific resultant binder PG in the final mixture. When these equations are not used, typically at smaller amounts of RAP, the source of the RAP binder and its variations in properties are considered to have an insignificant impact on the resultant blended binder in the mixture. Because of this, no analysis of or adjustment to the virgin binder grade is made. It is important to note that both methods for specifying RAP assume that there will be 100% blending of the aged RAP binder with the virgin binder in the mixture.

Ultimately, determining how much RAP can be added into a mixture and how to accurately specify RAP use is a direct function of the performance of the resultant mixture. Because RAP stockpiles can have varying properties such as binder content, binder PG, gradation, etc., a BMD approach is a critical tool to evaluate that a RAP mixture will perform acceptably without premature failure. This evaluation can be used to help validate that the means of specifying RAP, either the percent dry weight of mixture or RAPBR, is accurate. If a RAP mixture does not meet the BMD performance criteria, the state transportation agency

could then adjust its specification method by lowering either the percent RAP by dry weight of the mixture or the RAPBR until the desired mixture performance criteria is attained. If a RAP mixture has performance that exceeds expectations, it may be possible to adjust the specification to include more RAP.

Any specification for using RAP in mixtures needs to be sensitive to the variability of the materials used to produce said mixtures. For instance, RAP binder properties may vary by geographic location within a state because the different environmental conditions at these locations may have imparted different amounts of in-service aging. Another factor to consider is that studies have illustrated that virgin asphalt binders having the same PG but obtained from different sources will not always lead to mixtures that perform the same (4). Since virgin binders used in most states can be obtained from different sources, it is critical for an agency to investigate the combinational effects of both RAP source and virgin binder source on mixture performance. Using a BMD approach will help account for these factors and ultimately help shape and refine a specification for the use of RAP that more accurately reflects performance as it relates to the properties of the available materials.

1.2 Problem Statement

MassDOT specification currently requires a PG 64-28 to be used in surface mixtures and up to 15% RAP by dry weight of the mixture. Higher percentages of RAP are not allowed in surface mixtures. Since no change in virgin binder selection is required, this specification assumes that the required intermediate-temperature PG of 22°C and the low-temperature PG of -28°C will be met, regardless of the RAP binder content or the intermediate- and low-temperature PGs of the aged RAP binder. Thus, for example, even if the PGs of the aged RAP binders being used vary with the geographical location because of different degrees of in-service aging, it is assumed that none of these PGs will require a change in virgin binder selection when using low RAP contents up to 15%.

The specification also assumes that the performances of a RAP mixture will be independent of the source of the virgin PG 64-28 asphalt binder that is used. However, several research studies have illustrated that virgin binders having the same PG but obtained from different sources will not always lead to mixtures that perform the same (4). Additionally, the industry within the state would like to see greater than 15% RAP be allowed in surface mixtures. MassDOT specifications recommend using a softer binder than a PG 64-28 for higher than 15% RAP. Even so, many agencies are reluctant to do this because of the fear that the softer binder will dominate the resultant binder due to lack of blending. This might lead to rutting and other distresses in the field. To begin to address the issue of using higher RAP contents, this study was expanded to determine the effects of using percentages of RAP greater than 15% without using a softer binder or a rejuvenator.

1.3 Objectives

The objectives of this study were as follows.

- 1. Sample the RAP being used throughout Massachusetts and characterize the RAP binder and aggregates.
- 2. Sample and characterize the properties of the virgin PG 64-28 binder being used throughout Massachusetts to determine its ability to accommodate additional RAP.
- 3. Determine, by using blended binders, if the MassDOT specification that allows up to 15% RAP in surface mixtures without using a softer-grade virgin binder or blending equations is valid regardless of RAP source and virgin binder source.
- 4. Determine if the MassDOT specification should be based on RAPBR instead of by dry weight of the mixture, which is being used currently.
- 5. Use a BMD procedure on a select group of surface mixtures that accounts for RAP source and virgin binder source to validate the previous findings and to determine the effects of using 15%, 25%, and 35% RAP without using a softer binder or a rejuvenator.
- 6. Using the BMD procedure, determine which mixtures would remain balanced in terms of rutting, moisture susceptibility, fatigue cracking, and thermal cracking.
- 7. Based on the preceding, determine what changes are needed, if any, to the current MassDOT specification for RAP use in surface mixtures.

2.0 Experimental Plan

In order to achieve the objectives of this study, an experimental plan was developed as shown in Figure 2.1. A critical aspect of the plan was to sample and characterize the RAP stockpiles available geographically throughout the state. Equally important to the plan was determining the supply sources for the typically specified asphalt binder (PG 64-28) in the state, and subsequently sampling and characterizing these binders. With the available RAP and binder properties known, the AASHTO recommended methods for specifying RAP discussed previously (dry weight and RAPBR) could then be evaluated with respect to maintaining at least a PG 64-28 binder in the resultant mixture. Because these specification methods rely on mathematical calculations, mixtures needed to be prepared to validate that mixture performance is not different due to RAP source or virgin binder source, even if the blending charts method indicates that PG 64-28 is maintained. Mixture performance testing was conducted with a BMD approach, utilizing tests for assessing rutting, moisture susceptibility, fatigue cracking and thermal cracking. Two RAPs and two virgin binders (PG 64-28) with quite different properties were used for this mixture evaluation. By analyzing the AASHTO recommendations and the actual laboratory mixture performance data, any changes needed to the current MassDOT specification for RAP use in surface mixtures could be determined.



Figure 2.1: Experimental plan

3.0 Reclaimed Asphalt Pavements

In order to evaluate the AASHTO M 323 recommended methods for specifying RAP in a mixture, the properties of the sampled RAP needed to be determined first. This section outlines the testing for these RAPs.

3.1 RAP Sampling and RAP Source

It was important to obtain RAP stockpile material from various sources throughout Massachusetts, as the current RAP specification applies to all mixtures placed within the state. An attempt was made to obtain RAP from each of the six MassDOT districts within the state to cover the geography of the state and characterize the possible RAP stockpiles that could be used in a mixture. As shown in Figure 3.1, eight unique producers were identified representing five of the six districts. A suitable producer could not be identified in District 6. One producer was identified in Cumberland, Rhode Island. This producer regularly serves both District 3 and District 5, so it was included in the study. Note that duplicate samples were collected in the subsequent year for select RAP stockpiles. This was done to identify any year-to-year variability in the RAP properties. A total of 13 stockpiles of RAP were included in the study.



Figure 3.1: RAP stockpile sampling location, year, and type

RAP stockpile sampling was conducted using the mini stockpile method outlined in Chapter 3 of NAPA's Quality Improvement Series 129 (5). Mini stockpiles were made by a front-end loader for various locations around the RAP stockpile. A minimum of 20 unique samples were obtained from each stockpile for each RAP source. The stockpile type sampled (RAP or millings) and year obtained are also shown in Figure 3.1. In total, 13 unique RAP stockpiles were sampled and tested. Note that none of the RAP stockpiles was fractionated, as MassDOT does not require it. Also, the maximum particle size noted in any RAP stockpile was 12.5 mm (1/2 inch).

3.2 RAP Properties

For this study, it was important to determine specific physical properties of each RAP stockpile. For the calculation of RAPBR, it was essential to know the binder content of each RAP stockpile. To use the AASHTO blending charts, it was important to know the properties of the extracted and recovered RAP binder. The recommendations outlined in NCHRP Report 752, *Improved Mix Design, Evaluation, and Materials Management Practices for Hot Mix Asphalt with High Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement Content (6)*, were followed to determine minimum test frequency and suggested maximum standard deviation between measurements for each specific test, as shown in Table 3.1.

Property	Test Method(s)	Frequency	Minimum Number of Tests per Stockpile	Maximum Standard Deviation
Asphalt Content	AASHTO T 164 or AASHTO T 308	1 per 1,000 tons	10	0.5
Recovered Aggregate Gradation*	AASHTO T 30	1 per 1,000 tons	10	5.0 all sieves 1.5 on 75 micron
Recovered Aggregate Bulk Specific Gravity	AASHTO T 84 and T 85	1 per 3,000 tons	3	0.030**
Binder Recovery and PG Grading	AASHTO T 319 or ASTM D5404 and AASHTO R 29	1 per 5,000 tons	1	n/a

Table 3.1: NCHRP Report 752 proposed RAP sampling and testing guidelines for high RAP content mixes

* Samples for Superpave aggregate consensus properties or other aggregate testing needs may be obtained by combining the tested aggregates following sieve analyses.

**Preliminary value based on limited data and possible impacts to VMA for high RAP content mixes.

3.2.1. Binder Content

Each RAP binder content was determined by two methods: ignition oven (AASHTO T 308 "Standard Method of Test for Determining the Asphalt Binder Content of Hot Mix Asphalt by the Ignition Method") and centrifuge extraction (AASHTO T 164 "Standard Method of Test for Quantitative Extraction of Asphalt Binder from Hot Mix Asphalt" – Method A) (3). Per the recommendations of NCHRP Report 752, over 10 random samples were tested in the

ignition oven for each stockpile. For centrifuge extraction, due to the amount of chemical solvent involved, only two random samples were tested for each stockpile to compare them to the findings of the ignition oven results. The average results are shown in Table 3.2. The ignition oven determined binder content was generally greater than the centrifuge extraction binder content. This was expected, as no correction factors were used in the ignition oven since the aggregate source in the RAP stockpiles was unknown. For the majority, the ignition oven- and centrifuge-determined binder contents were within $\pm 0.5\%$.

			e			
Location	Туре	Year	Avg. P _{bI}	Avg. P _{bC}	Avg. Binder Continuous Grade High, (Intermediate), Low, °C	Avg. Binder PG
District 1						
Lenoxdale	RAP	2019	6.0	6.3	92.1 (31.4) -15.4	PG 88-10
District 2						
Deerfield	RAP	2017	6.6	6.1	86.7 (30.7) -18.3	PG 82-16
Deerfield	RAP	2018	6.3	5.8	85.4 (30.9) -17.9	PG 82-16
Northfield	RAP	2019	6.0	5.5	85.8 (30.2) -18.2	PG 82-16
District 3						
Millbury	RAP	2017	5.8	5.4	76.8 (23.4) -24.7	PG 76-22
Cumberland	RAP	2018	5.8	5.6	91.2 (32.3) -14.3	PG 88-10
District 4						
Dracut	RAP	2017	5.2	4.9	84.2 (27.0) -21.2	PG 82-16
Dracut	RAP	2018	5.4	4.8	85.8 (29.1) -20.1	PG 82-16
Dracut	Millings	2017	6.0	5.5	99.3 (37.7) -11.0	PG 94-10
Dracut	Millings	2018	6.2	5.9	80.2 (27.6) -22.2	PG 76-22
District 5						
Wrentham	RAP	2017	5.1	5.5	79.1 (25.4) -22.2	PG 76-22
Acushnet	RAP	2017	4.6	4.7	83.0 (27.9) -20.3	PG 82-16
Acushnet	Millings	2017	5.9	5.5	82.7 (28.2) -21.2	PG 82-16

 Table 3.2: RAP binder content and extracted/recovered RAP binder performance grade

PbI = Binder content determined by ignition oven.

PbC = Binder content determined by chemical extraction.

3.2.2. Extracted/Recovered RAP Binder Performance Grade

Each RAP binder was extracted and recovered for continuous grade and PG determination. Chemical extraction was completed using a centrifuge extractor with toluene as the solvent, in accordance with AASHTO T 164 "Standard Method of Test for Quantitative Extraction of Asphalt Binder from Hot Mix Asphalt" – Method A) (*3*). Recovery was conducted using a Rotovap device in accordance with ASTM D 5404 "Standard Practice for Recovery of Asphalt from Solution Using the Rotary Evaporator" (*7*). The recovered RAP binder was then tested to determine its PG in accordance with AASHTO R 29 "Standard Practice for Grading or Verifying the Performance Grade of an Asphalt Binder" and M 320 "Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder" (*3*). A minimum of two random samples were tested for each RAP stockpile, although NCHRP Report 752 only recommended one test per stockpile, as shown in Table 3.1. The average continuous grade and PG for each recovered RAP binder are shown in Table 3.2. The recovered binder PG data indicates that the PGs of the RAPs in the state varied from PG 76-22 to PG 94-10.

3.2.3. Extracted/Recovered RAP Binder Performance Properties

In addition to determining the PG of the recovered RAP binder, the performance properties of the binder were also measured. Specifically, the binder rutting and fatigue performance were evaluated using two tests performed using the dynamic shear rheometer (DSR).

Rutting performance was measured using the Multiple Stress Creep Recovery (MSCR) test, in accordance with AASHTO T 350 "Standard Method of Test for Multiple Stress Creep Recovery Test of Asphalt Binder Using a Dynamic Shear Rheometer" (*3*). A minimum of two tests were conducted at 64°C to coincide with the typical binder high PG grade temperature for the state. Values of the nonrecoverable creep compliance (J_{nr}) were determined for each binder tested, as shown in Table 3.3. In accordance with AASHTO M 332 "Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder Using Multiple Stress Creep Recovery Test" (*3*), values of the nonrecoverable creep compliance at the highest shear stress of 3.2 kPa ($J_{nr3.2}$) are used to determine the traffic loading designations for the binder, "S," "H," "V," or "E," which correspond to standard, high, very high, or extremely high traffic loading, respectively.

Per AASHTO T 350, the standard designation "S" is for traffic levels fewer than 10 million equivalent single axle loads (ESALs) and more than the standard traffic speed (>70 km/h or 43.5 mph). The high designation "H" is for traffic levels of 10 to 30 million ESALs or slow-moving traffic (20 to 70 km/h or 12.4 to 43.5 mph). The very high designation "V" is for traffic levels of greater than 30 million ESALs or standing traffic (<20 km/h or 12.4 mph). The extremely high designation "E" is for traffic levels of greater than 30 million ESALs and standing traffic (<20 km/h or 12.4 mph) such as toll plazas or port facilities. The data for the recovered RAP binders in Table 3.3 indicate that a majority of the binders were an "E" designation, while one was a "V" designation. The results are not surprising, as the aged RAP binder is expected to be stiff and thereby would exhibit increased rutting resistance.

Fatigue performance was measured using the linear amplitude sweep (LAS) test, in accordance with AASHTO TP 101 "Standard Method of Test for Estimating Fatigue Resistance of Asphalt Binders Using the Linear Amplitude Sweep" (*3*). A minimum of two tests were conducted at the intermediate-temperature grade of the binder. For the RAP binders, the intermediate temperature from the performance grading tests ranged from 23.4°C to 37.7°C, as shown in Table 3.2. Initial specimens tested at colder temperatures (22°C and 25°C) fractured during testing. Two RAP specimens were able to be tested at a colder temperature for the remaining specimens was determined to be 35°C, to keep the specimens from fracturing during testing. The results of the LAS testing are shown in Table 3.4. Generally, increased number of cycles to failure (N_f) at a particular strain level indicate better fracture resistance. The results indicate that the fracture resistance of the RAP binders varied based on source.

				MSCR @ 64°C		
Location	Туре	Year	J _{nr3.2}	J _{nr Diff} 75% max.	Traffic Loading Designation	
District 1						
Lenoxdale	RAP	2019	0.05	3.4	Е	
District 2						
Deerfield	RAP	2017	0.13	5.0	E	
Deerfield	RAP	2018	0.16	3.4	E	
Northfield	RAP	2019	0.16	8.7	E	
District 3						
Millbury	RAP	2017	0.69	9.0	V	
Cumberland	RAP	2018	0.08	23.6	E	
District 4						
Dracut	RAP	2017	0.20	5.9	E	
Dracut	RAP	2018	0.16	5.5	E	
Dracut	Millings	2017	0.03	6.8	Е	
Dracut	Millings	2018	0.45	5.2	Е	
District 5						
Wrentham	RAP	2017	0.46	7.4	E	
Acushnet	RAP	2017	0.24	4.7	E	
Acushnet	Millings	2017	0.26	4.7	E	

 Table 3.3: Extracted/recovered RAP binder rutting performance properties (MSCR)

Table 3.4: Extracted/recovered RAP binder fatigue performance properties (LAS)

			LAS			
Location	Туре	Year	Test	N _f @ 2.5%	N _f @ 5%	N _f @ 10%
			Temp., °C	strain	strain	strain
District 1						
Lenoxdale	RAP	2019	35°C	10,650	564	30
District 2						
Deerfield	RAP	2017	35°C	90,496	7,020	545
Deerfield	RAP	2018	35°C	65,012	5,139	407
Northfield	RAP	2019	35°C	54,217	4,142	316
District 3						
Millbury	RAP	2017	35°C	80,306	7,409	684
Cumberland	RAP	2018	35°C	20,669	1.337	87
District 4						
Dracut	RAP	2017	35°C	86,679	7,066	576
Dracut	RAP	2018	35°C	60,311	4,693	365
Dracut	Millings	2017	35°C	5,051	301	18
Dracut	Millings	2018	35°C	88,014	7,569	653
District 5						
Wrentham	RAP	2017	25°C	50,081	2,722	148
Acushnet	RAP	2017	25°C	34,499	1,655	80
Acushnet	Millings	2017	35°C	42,626	3,838	346

3.2.4. RAP Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity

The maximum theoretical specific gravity (G_{mm}) of the dried RAP was determined in accordance with AASHTO T 209 "Standard Method of Test for Theoretical Maximum Specific Gravity and Density of Asphalt Mixtures" (*3*). Typically, for each stockpile, a minimum of five random samples were tested. The results are presented by district in Tables 3.5 through 3.9. The tables show that the RAP G_{mm} varied between and within the districts.

RAP G_{mm} is commonly used in the mixture design process to estimate the effective specific gravity (G_{se}) of the RAP aggregates using equations found in AASHTO R 35 "Standard Practice for Superpave Volumetric Design for Asphalt Mixtures" (*3*), as shown in Equation 2. This effective specific gravity is then used to estimate the RAP aggregate bulk specific gravity, as outlined in Equation 3. This specific gravity is combined with the virgin aggregate specific gravity in the appropriate mixture blend ratio to calculate the combined mixture aggregate specific gravity, as shown in Equation 4.

Location	Lenoxdale					
Туре	RAP					
Year	2019					
Average Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity – 5 Replicates						
G _{mm}	2.625					
Average Gradation ((After Ignition) – 10 Replicates					
19.0 mm	100					
12.5 mm	99.6					
9.5 mm	93.9					
4.75 mm (No. 4)	68.7					
2.36 mm (No. 8)	51.5					
1.18 mm (No. 16)	40.2					
600 µm (No. 30)	30.6					
300 µm (No. 50)	21.4					
150 µm (No. 100)	13.6					
75 µm (No. 200)	9.1					
Average Gradation ((After Centrifuge) – 2 Replicates					
19.0 mm	100.0					
12.5 mm	99.7					
9.5 mm	94.3					
4.75 mm (No. 4)	69.9					
2.36 mm (No. 8)	52.4					
1.18 mm (No. 16)	40.7					
600 µm (No. 30)	30.7					
300 µm (No. 50)	21.0					
150 µm (No. 100)	12.9					
75 µm (No. 200)	8.3					
Average Combined A	Aggregate Specific Gravity (After Ignition)					
G _{sb}	2.733					

Table 3.5: District 1 RAP recovered aggregate properties

Location	Deerfield	Deerfield	Northfield					
Туре	RAP	RAP	RAP					
Year	2017	2018	2019					
Average Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity – 5 Replicates								
G _{mm}	2.563	2.584	2.605					
Average Gradation (After Ignition) – 10 Replicates								
19.0 mm	100	100	100					
12.5 mm	99.9	99.9	99.6					
9.5 mm	96.4	96.1	95.8					
4.75 mm (No. 4)	69.6	68.4	65.1					
2.36 mm (No. 8)	50.9	50.8	46.5					
1.18 mm (No. 16)	38.1	39.3	35.3					
600 μm (No. 30)	26.7	29.4	26.1					
300 μm (No. 50)	18.3	20.9	18.8					
150 μm (No. 100)	12.6	14.4	12.7					
75 μm (No. 200)	8.9	10.1	8.7					
Average Gradation (After C	Centrifuge) – 2 Replic	ates						
19.0 mm	100	100	100					
12.5 mm	99.9	99.8	99.9					
9.5 mm	96.6	95.8	96.3					
4.75 mm (No. 4)	70.1	67.6	66.7					
2.36 mm (No. 8)	51.4	50.1	48.2					
1.18 mm (No. 16)	37.8	38.4	36.4					
600 μm (No. 30)	26.3	28.5	26.9					
300 μm (No. 50)	17.7	20.0	18.8					
150 μm (No. 100)	12.2	13.7	12.7					
75 μm (No. 200)	9.0	10.0	8.6					
Average Combined Aggreg	ate Specific Gravity (After Ignition)						
G _{sb}	2.615	2.708	2.682					

 Table 3.6: District 2 RAP recovered aggregate properties

Location	Millbury	Cumberland			
Туре	RAP	RAP			
Year	2017	2018			
Average Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity – 5 Replicates					
G _{mm}	2.542	2.511			
Average Gradation (After Ignition) – 10 Replicates					
19.0 mm	100	100			
12.5 mm	95.5	99.2			
9.5 mm	88.8	93.6			
4.75 mm (No. 4)	69.2	70.0			
2.36 mm (No. 8)	52.9	52.2			
1.18 mm (No. 16)	41.1	40.1			
600 µm (No. 30)	31.2	31.0			
300 µm (No. 50)	22.5	23.6			
150 µm (No. 100)	14.8	16.6			
75 µm (No. 200)	10.5	11.6			
Average Gradation (After Centrifuge) – 2 Replicates					
19.0 mm	100	99.7			
12.5 mm	97.1	99.1			
9.5 mm	91.2	93.7			
4.75 mm (No. 4)	70.2	68.8			
2.36 mm (No. 8)	53.3	50.6			
1.18 mm (No. 16)	40.5	38.3			
600 µm (No. 30)	30.2	29.5			
300 µm (No. 50)	21.2	22.3			
150 µm (No. 100)	13.5	15.6			
75 µm (No. 200)	9.0	10.9			
Average Combined Aggregate Specific Gravity (After Ignition)					
G _{sb}	2.652	2.520			

 Table 3.7: District 3 RAP recovered aggregate properties

Location	Dracut	Dracut	Dracut	Dracut			
Туре	RAP	RAP	Millings	Millings			
Year	2017	2018	2017	2018			
Average Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity – 5 Replicates							
G _{mm}	2.597	2.592	2.519	2.507			
Average Gradation (After Ignition) – 10 Replicates							
19.0 mm	100	100	100	100			
12.5 mm	99.9	100	98.5	98.5			
9.5 mm	97.3	97.2	93.7	93.3			
4.75 mm (No. 4)	73.8	72.4	64.4	71.0			
2.36 mm (No. 8)	54.8	53.1	42.4	52.0			
1.18 mm (No. 16)	41.1	40.2	31.6	39.6			
600 μm (No. 30)	30.8	30.5	23.7	29.5			
300 µm (No. 50)	22.2	22.2	17.6	20.4			
150 μm (No. 100)	14.6	14.7	12.3	12.9			
75 μm (No. 200)	9.7	9.9	8.7	8.7			
Average Gradation (After Centrifuge) – 2 Replicates							
19.0 mm	100	100	100	100			
12.5 mm	99.8	100	98.3	98.3			
9.5 mm	97.7	97.8	92.6	92.5			
4.75 mm (No. 4)	74.5	68.9	59.8	70.0			
2.36 mm (No. 8)	55.7	49.1	37.9	51.1			
1.18 mm (No. 16)	41.7	36.5	27.3	39.0			
600 μm (No. 30)	31.2	27.5	20.6	29.0			
300 µm (No. 50)	22.3	19.8	15.1	19.6			
150 μm (No. 100)	14.6	12.8	10.3	11.8			
75 μm (No. 200)	9.5	8.4	6.9	7.6			
Average Combined Aggregate Specific Gravity (After Ignition)							
G _{sb}	2.663	2.664	2.650	2.642			

 Table 3.8: District 4 RAP recovered aggregate properties

Location	Wrentham	Acushnet	Acushnet		
Туре	RAP	RAP	Millings		
Year	2017	2017	2017		
Average Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity – 5 Replicates					
G _{mm}	2.493	2.529	2.570		
Average Gradation (After Ignition) – 10 Replicates					
19.0 mm	100	100	100		
12.5 mm	98.6	98.8	97.9		
9.5 mm	90.9	88.1	90.6		
4.75 mm (No. 4)	68.2	58.5	67.8		
2.36 mm (No. 8)	51.3	41.9	51.7		
1.18 mm (No. 16)	38.5	32.7	39.4		
600 µm (No. 30)	28.0	25.9	30.2		
300 µm (No. 50)	19.1	19.9	22.6		
150 µm (No. 100)	11.8	13.6	15.2		
75 μm (No. 200)	7.7	9.0	10.2		
Gradation (After Centrifuge) – 2 Replicates					
19.0 mm	100	100	100		
12.5 mm	96.0	99.2	96.3		
9.5 mm	88.2	94.4	87.4		
4.75 mm (No. 4)	66.4	71.8	64.0		
2.36 mm (No. 8)	50.9	52.3	49.4		
1.18 mm (No. 16)	38.8	39.3	37.4		
600 µm (No. 30)	28.8	30.1	28.9		
300 µm (No. 50)	19.7	22.1	22.0		
150 µm (No. 100)	12.2	14.7	15.4		
75 μm (No. 200)	7.9	9.8	10.1		
Average Aggregate Specific Gravity (After Ignition)					
G _{sb}	2.547	2.587	2.679		

 Table 3.9: District 5 RAP recovered aggregate properties

This combined specific gravity has direct influence on the calculated mixture voids in mineral aggregate (VMA) and voids filled with asphalt (VFA), as shown in Equations 5 and 6.

$$G_{se} = \frac{100 - P_b}{\left[\frac{100}{G_{mm}} - \frac{P_b}{G_b}\right]}$$
(2)

Where:

 $G_{se} = Effective specific gravity of the RAP aggregate.$

 P_b = Binder content of RAP, %.

 G_{mm} = Maximum theoretical specific gravity of the RAP.

 G_b = Specific gravity of asphalt binder (typically = 1.03).

$$G_{sbRAP} = \frac{G_{se}}{\left[\frac{P_{ba \ x} \ G_{se}}{100 \ x \ G_{b}} + 1\right]} \tag{3}$$

Where:

 G_{sbRAP} = Bulk specific gravity of the RAP aggregate.

 $G_{se} = Effective specific gravity of the RAP aggregate.$

 P_{ba} = Absorbed asphalt content of RAP (estimated from virgin mixtures =0.5%)

 G_b = Specific gravity of asphalt binder (typically = 1.03).

$$G_{sb} = \frac{(P_{RAP} + P_{S1} + P_{S2} + \dots P_{Sn})}{\left[\frac{P_{RAP}}{G_{sbRAP}} + \frac{P_{S1}}{G_{S1}} + \frac{P_{S2}}{G_{S2}} + \dots \frac{P_{Sn}}{G_{Sn}}\right]}$$
(4)

Where:

 G_{sb} = Bulk specific gravity of combined aggregate blend.

 P_{RAP} = Percent by mass of RAP in the blend.

 G_{sbRAP} = Bulk specific gravity of the RAP aggregate.

 P_{S1} , P_{S2} , ... P_{sn} = Percent by mass of each individual aggregate stockpile in the blend.

 $G_{S1}, G_{S2}, \ldots G_{sn}$ = Bulk specific gravity of each individual aggregate stockpile in the blend.

$$VMA = 100 - \frac{G_{mb} - P_s}{G_{sb}}$$
(5)

Where:

VMA = Voids in mineral aggregate, %.

 G_{mb} = Bulk specific gravity of compacted mixture.

P_s= Aggregate content, % by mass of mixture.

 G_{sb} = Bulk specific gravity of combined aggregate.

$$VFA = 100 \left(\frac{VMA - V_a}{VMA}\right) \tag{6}$$
Where:
VFA = Voids filled with asphalt, %.
VMA = Voids in mineral aggregate, %.
V _a = Percent air voids in the compacted mixture, %.

Significant variations in the RAP G_{mm} could thereby subsequently lead to a mixture with inadequate VMA and VFA, depending on the amount and type of RAP used. Sample volumetric calculations were completed using the average G_{mm} values shown in Tables 3.5 through 3.9 through the process described above for a typical 12.5 mm Massachusetts surface course mixture containing 15% RAP with 5.5% asphalt binder. The results are shown in Table 3.10.

Location	Туре	Year	Avg. P _{bI}	Avg G _{mm}	Gse	G _{sb} RAP	G _{sb} for Mix	VMA	VFA
District 1									
Lenoxdale	RAP	2019	6.0	2.625	2.913	2.872	2.654	16.3	75.5F
District 2									
Deerfield	RAP	2017	6.6	2.563	2.864	2.825	2.647	16.1	75.2 F
Deerfield	RAP	2018	6.3	2.584	2.876	2.836	2.649	16.2	75.3 F
Northfield	RAP	2019	6.0	2.605	2.887	2.847	2.650	16.2	75.3 F
District 3									
Millbury	RAP	2017	5.8	2.542	2.795	2.757	2.638	15.8	74.7
Cumberland	RAP	2018	5.8	2.511	2.755	2.719	2.633	15.7	74.4
District 4									
Dracut	RAP	2017	5.2	2.597	2.833	2.795	2.643	16.0	75.0
Dracut	RAP	2018	5.4	2.592	2.838	2.799	2.644	16.0	75.0
Dracut	Millings	2017	6.0	2.519	2.775	2.738	2.636	15.7	74.6
Dracut	Millings	2018	6.2	2.507	2.770	2.733	2.635	15.7	74.6
District 5									
Wrentham	RAP	2017	5.1	2.493	2.699	2.664	2.625	15.4	74.0
Acushnet	RAP	2017	4.6	2.529	2.720	2.684	2.628	15.5	74.2
Acushnet	Millings	2017	5.9	2.570	2.836	2.797	2.644	16.0	75.0

Table 3.10: Back calculated RAP aggregate bulk specific gravity from RAP Gmm effectson typical 12.5 mm 15% RAP mixture volumetric properties

 $P_{bI} = RAP$ binder content determined by ignition oven.

 \mathbf{F} = Failed VFA criteria of 65%-75%.

Regardless of the RAP stockpile used, all mixtures met the MassDOT specified VMA of 15% minimum, with values ranging from 15.4% to 16.3%. Conversely, using these VMA values to calculate VFA, four mixtures had values slightly above the acceptable range of 65%-75%, at 75.2% to 75.5%. Thus, the RAP stockpiles could not be used in those mixtures up to 15%. These sample calculations indicate that the G_{mm} has significance on calculated mixture volumetric properties when the RAP aggregate specific gravity is estimated from the G_{mm}. These sample calculations show that using selected RAP stockpiles in the same mixture, at the currently specified 15%, may lead to some mixtures failing to meet the required volumetric properties.

3.2.5. Recovered RAP Aggregate Gradation

The aggregates remaining after ignition oven and chemical extraction were further tested for aggregate gradation and specific gravity, in accordance with AASHTO T 11 "Standard Method of Test for Materials Finer Than 75-µm (No. 200) Sieve in Mineral Aggregates by Washing"; T 27 "Standard Method of Test for Sieve Analysis of Fine and Coarse Aggregates"; and T 30 "Standard Method of Test for Mechanical Analysis of Extracted Aggregate" (*3*). Following the recommendations outlined in NCHRP Report 752 shown in Table 3.1, a minimum of 10 random samples were tested for the ignition oven recovered aggregates. Due to the amount of solvent involved in chemical extraction, a minimum of two random samples were tested for centrifuge extraction recovered aggregates.

Tables 3.5 through 3.9 show the aggregate gradation results post-ignition oven and centrifuge extraction for the 13 RAP stockpiles. Nothing definitive can be surmised directly from the gradation data. Generally speaking, the gradations obtained post-ignition oven were finer than the those obtained after chemical extraction. This is likely due to the fact that aggregates will break down during the ignition oven process, thus a finer gradation was expected to be obtained.

From a specification standpoint, it is important to note that the RAP stockpiles must be graded such that they conform to the mixture gradation at the allowable percentage. Typically, RAP contains more fine material (passing No. 200 material) than a typical virgin stockpile. This, along with the differences in binder content, could have an impact on the overall mixture performance.

Another finding from the testing was that 3 of 13 stockpiles (Acushnet RAP 2017, Dracut RAP 2018, and Dracut Millings 2017) did not meet the recovered aggregate gradation standard deviation requirements outlined in NCHRP 752 (5.0% for all sieves except the No. 200, which was 1.5%) as indicated in Table 3.1. An example of this is shown in Table 3.11. This data indicates that some RAP stockpiles had high variability, as some sieve sizes had standard deviations greater than 10%. That shows if the limits proposed in NCHRP Report 752 were to be incorporated into the future specification, then those three stockpiles would not be uniform enough for use. The current MassDOT and AASHTO M 323 "Standard Specification for Superpave Volumetric Mix Design" specification does not address RAP stockpile variability, thus allowing for potentially highly variable stockpiles to be used. This would result in nonconforming mixtures being produced, with potentially reduced volumetric and performance characteristics. Ultimately, it will be up to each state to determine a measure to quantify RAP variability to ensure suitably homogeneous RAP stockpiles are used.

	Acushnet RAP 2017 Average Ignition Oven Gradation (10 Replicates)	Standard Deviation of 10 Replicates	Suggested NCHRP 752 Standard Deviation Limits
19.0 mm	100	0	< 5.0
12.5 mm	98.8	0.7	< 5.0
9.5 mm	88.1	5.5 F	< 5.0
4.75 mm (No. 4)	58.5	13.8 F	< 5.0
2.36 mm (No. 8)	41.9	11.5 F	< 5.0
1.18 mm (No. 16)	32.7	8.6 F	< 5.0
600 µm (No. 30)	25.9	6.2 F	< 5.0
300 µm (No. 50)	19.9	4.1	< 5.0
150 µm (No. 100)	13.6	2.6	< 5.0
75 µm (No. 200)	9.0	1.8 F	<1.5

 Table 3.11: Example of replicate post-ignition oven gradation measurements exceeding suggested NCHRP 752 limits

 \mathbf{F} =Standard deviation of measurements outside suggested NCHRP 752 limits.

3.2.6. Recovered RAP Aggregate Specific Gravity

Due to minimum sample size requirements of AASHTO T 84 "Standard Method of Test for Specific Gravity and Absorption of Fine Aggregate" and T 85 "Standard Method of Test for Specific Gravity and Absorption of Coarse Aggregate" (*3*), additional extracted aggregate material was obtained in the ignition oven. This material was split into coarse (material larger than No. 4 sieve) and fine (material passing No. 4 sieve) fractions for specific gravity testing. NCHRP Report 752 recommended a minimum of three specific gravity tests per stockpile, as shown in Table 3.1. For this project, a minimum of four random samples were obtained and tested for each RAP stockpile. The specific gravity values for each sample were mathematically combined into one overall aggregate specific gravity value, based on the ignition oven sieve analysis results.

Table 3.12 shows the average specific gravity results, which are also presented in Tables 3.5 through 3.9. The values of the measured aggregate specific gravity for the RAP stockpiles were consistently lower than those that were estimated or back calculated from the RAP G_{mm} calculation discussed previously in Section 3.2.4. Using the same sample volumetric calculations discussed in the G_{mm} section (Section 3.2.4), two of the RAP stockpiles would yield mixtures failing the VMA requirement of >15% (14.7% and 14.8%), but all mixtures passed the VFA requirement. Thus, in terms of specifications, it should be decided which method is preferable to MassDOT to determine the specific gravity of the RAP aggregate, as each method will yield mixtures with different volumetric properties, and not all may conform to current volumetric thresholds.

	1				•			
Location	Туре	Year	Back Calculated	AASHTO T 84/T 85 Measured	Using Calc RA	g Back ulated P G _{sb}	Using Measured RAP G _{sb}	
			KAI G _{sb}	RAP G _{sb}	VMA	VFA	VMA	VFA
District 1								
Lenoxdale	RAP	2019	2.872	2.733	16.3	75.5 F	15.7	74.6
District 2								
Deerfield	RAP	2017	2.825	2.615	16.1	75.2 F	15.2	73.6
Deerfield	RAP	2018	2.836	2.708	16.2	75.3 F	15.6	74.4
Northfield	RAP	2019	2.847	2.682	16.2	75.3 F	15.5	74.2
District 3								
Millbury	RAP	2017	2.757	2.652	15.8	74.7	15.3	73.9
Cumberland	RAP	2018	2.719	2.520	15.7	74.4	14.7 F	72.8
District 4								
Dracut	RAP	2017	2.795	2.663	16.0	75.0	15.4	74.0
Dracut	RAP	2018	2.799	2.664	16.0	75.0	15.4	74.0
Dracut	Millings	2017	2.738	2.650	15.7	74.6	15.3	73.9
Dracut	Millings	2018	2.733	2.642	15.7	74.6	15.3	73.9
District 5								
Wrentham	RAP	2017	2.664	2.547	15.4	74.0	14.8 F	73.0
Acushnet	RAP	2017	2.684	2.587	15.5	74.2	15.0	73.4
Acushnet	Millings	2017	2.797	2.679	16.0	75.0	15.5	74.1

 Table 3.12: Back calculated RAP aggregate bulk specific gravity from G_{mm} vs.

 measured bulk specific gravity

 $\mathbf{F} = Failed criteria.$

3.3 RAP Property Changes from Year to Year

Determining the year-to-year variability of the RAPs was of interest for this study, as the properties and sources of materials used to generate a RAP stockpile will vary from one production season to the next. If the variation of the RAP is significant from year to year, any specification would have to address this. Three RAP stockpiles were sampled in 2017 and then again in 2018 (Dracut RAP, Dracut Millings, and Deerfield RAP). This comparison is shown in Table 3.13, with the average results being presented.

Location	Dracut	Dracut	Dracut	Dracut	Deerfield	Deerfield			
Туре	RAP	RAP	Millings	Millings	RAP	RAP			
Year	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018			
Average Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity									
G _{mm}	2.597	2.592	2.519	2.507	2.563	2.584			
Average Binder Content, %									
Ignition Oven	5.2	5.4	6.0	6.2	6.6	6.3			
Centrifuge	4.9	4.8	5.5	5.9	6.1	5.8			
Average Gradati	on (After Ig	nition)			·				
19.0 mm	100	100	100	100	100	100			
12.5 mm	99.9	100	98.5	98.5	99.9	99.9			
9.5 mm	97.3	97.2	93.7	93.3	96.4	96.1			
4.75 mm	73.8	72.4	64.4	71	69.6	68.4			
2.36 mm	54.8	53.1	42.4	52	50.9	50.8			
1.18 mm	41.1	40.2	31.6	39.6	38.1	39.3			
600 µm	30.8	30.5	23.7	29.5	26.7	29.4			
300 µm	22.2	22.2	17.6	20.4	18.3	20.9			
150 μm	14.6	14.7	12.3	12.9	12.6	14.4			
75 μm	9.7	9.9	8.7	8.7	8.9	10.1			
Average Aggrega	ate Specific (Gravity (Afte	r Ignition)						
Combined G _{sb}	2.663	2.664	2.650	2.642	2.615	2.708			
Average RAP Bi	nder Gradin	g Results			•				
Performance Grade	PG82-16	PG82-16	PG94-10	PG76-22	PG82-16	PG82-16			
Continuous Grade High	84.2	85.8	99.3	80.2	86.7	85.4			
Continuous Grade Intermediate	27.0	29.1	37.7	27.6	30.7	30.9			
Continuous Grade Low	-21.2	-20.1	-11.0	-22.2	-18.3	-17.9			

Table 3.13: Differences in average RAP stockpile properties, year to year

In general, the properties of the RAPs did not vary greatly, except for those of the Dracut millings. The recovered RAP binder grade went from very stiff at PG 94-10 to much less stiff at PG 76-22. This demonstrates that RAP properties must be tested thoroughly every season or when new RAP is processed. Another complication is that sections of a particular stockpile may have RAPs with different properties. Moreover, RAP stockpile properties cannot be accurately determined without knowing the properties of the RAP binder. The current specification does not account for these properties at low RAP contents.

4.0 Virgin Asphalt Binders

In order to evaluate the AASHTO M 323 recommended methods for specifying RAP in a mixture, the research team also needed to determine the properties of the typical virgin binders used in Massachusetts. This section outlines the testing for these virgin binders.

4.1 Sampling of Virgin Asphalt Binders

It was determined that Massachusetts has four regional suppliers of PG 64-28 asphalt binder that currently serve the state. The typical asphalt binder was obtained from all four sources and graded in accordance with AASHTO M 320 "Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder" (3). The sources were Deerfield, Massachusetts; Providence, Rhode Island; Newington, New Hampshire; and Montreal, Canada.

4.2 Performance Grade

Testing of multiple random replicates for the four binder sources confirmed each of the binders to be PG 64-28. The average continuous grades for each asphalt binder source are shown in Table 4.1. Additionally, the average Delta Tc (Δ Tc) of each binder after PAV is provided. Delta Tc is a parameter introduced by Anderson et al. (8) that is used to measure the loss of relaxation due to aging, which increases the risk of non-load-associated cracking. A minimum Δ Tc of -5.0°C has been suggested as a preliminary criterion (9); therefore, binders with a Δ Tc of -5.0°C or more negative are considered unacceptable. None of the virgin binders in this study exhibited Δ Tc values outside the acceptable range.

Source	Average Binder Continuous Grade (High, Intermediate, Low)°C	Average Binder PG	Average ΔT _C
Deerfield	65.8 (15.8) -30.9	PG 64-28	+0.8
Providence	66.2 (20.4) -28.6	PG 64-28	-1.2
Newington	65.0 (16.3) -30.6	PG 64-28	0.0
Canada	65.5 (16.8) -30.9	PG 64-28	-0.1

Table 4.1:	Virgin	binder	performance	grade
-------------------	--------	--------	-------------	-------

It is important to note that the Providence source had intermediate- and low-temperature continuous grades warmer than those of the other binders tested. Both of them were close to their respective maximum thresholds for PG 64-28 (22°C intermediate temperature and -28°C low temperature). This will have an impact on the capacity of this virgin binder to accommodate RAP in any mixture, because the aged RAP binder might not make the blended binder PG 64-28.

4.3 Virgin Binder Performance Properties

As in the case of the recovered RAP binders, the performance properties of the virgin binder were also measured in addition to determining the PG of the binder. Specifically, the same binder rutting and fatigue performance were utilized.

Rutting performance was measured using the multiple stress creep recovery (MSCR) test, in accordance with AASHTO T 350 "Standard Method of Test for Multiple Stress Creep Recovery Test of Asphalt Binder Using a Dynamic Shear Rheometer" (*3*). A minimum of two tests were conducted at 64°C, coinciding with the typical binder high PG grade temperature for the state. Values of the nonrecoverable creep compliance (J_{nr}) were determined for each binder tested, as shown in Table 4.2. In accordance with AASHTO M 332 "Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder Using Multiple Stress Creep Recovery Test" (*3*), values of the nonrecoverable creep compliance at the highest shear stress of 3.2 kPa (J_{nr3.2}) are used to determine the traffic loading designations for the binder: "S," "H," "V," or "E," which correspond to "standard," "high," "very high," or "extremely high" traffic loading, respectively.

	MSCR @ 64°C							
Source	J _{nr3.2}	J _{nr Diff} 75% max.	Traffic Loading Designation					
Deerfield	3.5	38%	S					
Providence	2.8	17%	S					
Newington	3.8	38%	S					
Canada	3.7	42%	S					

 Table 4.2: Virgin binder rutting performance properties (MSCR)

All virgin binder testing results indicated they should be used for traffic loading designation of "S." The standard designation "S" is for traffic levels fewer than 10 million equivalent single axle loads (ESALs) and more than the standard traffic speed (>70 km/h or 43.5 mph). Since the virgin binders were not modified, it was anticipated the traffic designation was standard, as the binders are likely to be less stiff and have relatively less rutting resistance than a modified binder.

Fatigue performance was measured using the linear amplitude sweep (LAS) test in accordance with AASHTO TP 101 "Standard Method of Test for Estimating Fatigue Resistance of Asphalt Binders Using the Linear Amplitude Sweep" (*3*). A minimum of two tests should be conducted at the intermediate temperature grade of the binder. For the virgin binders, the next-coldest intermediate temperature for all binders was 15°C, based on the intermediate continuous grade of each binder as shown in Table 4.1. The results of the LAS testing are shown in Table 4.3. Generally, increased number of cycles to failure (N_f) at a particular strain level indicate better fracture resistance. The results indicate that the fracture resistance of the virgin binders varied based on source, with the one binder exhibiting a reduced fatigue performance as compared to the remaining binders tested.

		LAS						
	Test	$N_{f}@2.5\%$	N_{f}	N _f @10%				
Source	Temp.,	strain	@5%	strain				
	°C		strain					
Deerfield	15°C	152,867	7,885	407				
Providence	15°C	68,355	3,102	141				
Newington	15°C	213,170	10,712	538				
Canada	15°C	156,477	6,901	304				

 Table 4.3: Virgin binder fatigue performance properties (LAS)

This page left blank intentionally.

5.0 Analysis of Methods to Specify RAP in a Mixture

As noted previously, guidelines are provided by AASHTO M 323 "Standard Specification for Superpave Volumetric Mix Design" for specifying RAP in a mixture by both percentage of dry weight of mixture and RAP binder ratio (RAPBR). Specifically, AASHTO M 323 provides recommendations for the amount of RAP, or a RAPBR, that can be used in a mixture without requiring a change to the virgin binder grade. The specification also provides recommendations on how to select an appropriate binder grade if the RAP amount or RAPBR exceeds specific levels. These recommendations are shown in Table 5.1, and the current Massachusetts specification closely follows AASHTO guidance. This section addresses a major project objective, which was to determine if the MassDOT specification, which allows up to 15% RAP by dry weight of a mixture without using a softer-grade virgin binder or blending equations, is valid regardless of the RAP source or virgin binder source. It will also address the objective of determining if the MassDOT specification should be based on RAPBR instead of by dry weight of the mixture.

 Table 5.1: AASHTO M 323 guidance on how to specify RAP use in Superpave asphalt mixtures

Percent Dry Weight of Mixture Method					
Recommended Virgin Asphalt Binder Grade	RAP Percentage				
No Change in Binder Selection	<15%				
Select Virgin Binder One Grade Softer than Normal	15 to 25%				
Follow Blending Chart Recommendations	> 250/				
(AASHTO M 323 Appendix X1)	>23%				
RAP Binder Ratio (RAPBR) Method					
Recommended Virgin Asphalt Binder Grade	RAPBR				
No Change in Binder Selection	< 0.25				
Follow AASHTO Procedures for Estimating the Properties of Blended RAP and Virgin Binders (AASHTO M 323 Appendix X2)	>0.25				

5.1 Percent Dry Weight of Mixture Method

As detailed in Table 5.1, at RAP percentages <15%, AASHTO recommends no PG change for the binder used in a mixture. If PG 64-28 is desired, a PG 64-28 binder should be used. This specification implies that the RAP source utilized will have a negligible impact on the overall properties of the blended binder in the mixture. It is blind to the properties of the RAP binder (binder content, PG, etc.) and the virgin binder. The only way to confirm this is to utilize the blending chart procedure that is typically used for >25% RAP. For this study, the properties of the recovered RAP and virgin binder sources were already determined, as shown in Tables 3.2 and 4.1, respectively. The blending chart procedure suggested by AASHTO utilizes these known properties to give an estimate of the percentage of RAP that can be used via its Equation X1.12, shown here as Equation 7.

$$\% RAP = \frac{T_{Blend} - T_{Virgin}}{T_{RAP} - T_{Virgin}}$$
(7)

Where:

 T_{Virgin} = Critical temperature of the virgin asphalt binder (high, intermediate, or low). T_{Blend} = Critical temperature of the blended asphalt binder (high, intermediate, or low). T_{RAP} = Critical temperature of the recovered RAP binder (high, intermediate, or low).

Theoretically, if the <15% limit is correct, the results of this analysis should indicate that at least 15% RAP can be used regardless of RAP source or virgin binder source, while maintaining a PG 64-28 blended binder in the mixture. Using Equation 7 and the measured recovered RAP and virgin binder properties already determined, this analysis was completed at high, intermediate, and low temperature with a T_{Blend} of 64°C high temperature, 22°C intermediate temperature, and -28°C low temperature. The low temperature requirement was the limiting case for all combinations.

The results are presented in Table 5.2. The analysis shows that 15% RAP could not be used in 15 of 52 combinations (29%). This indicates that the current MassDOT specification allowing up to 15% RAP by percent of dry weight may not achieve the goal of maintaining PG 64-28. Interestingly, it was also found for the remaining combinations that from 16% to 46.8% RAP could be used while maintaining PG 64-28, depending on the RAP source and virgin binder source. The disparity between the estimated amounts of allowable RAP presents the high influence of the RAP source and virgin binder source on the amount of RAP that can be added to the mixture. Under the current specification, this type of analysis is not completed when up to 15% RAP is used in a surface mixture; the influence of RAP is considered negligible. Clearly, this analysis demonstrates otherwise.

Also noteworthy is that the current percent by dry weight specification at low RAP percentages does not account for differences in RAP binder content. This means that two producers could make a similar mixture, but one will be using less virgin binder as its RAP contains more binder. This may also mean that the performances of the resultant mixtures may be different, as the ratio of virgin to RAP binder in the mixture will be different.

		Virgin Binder Source				
Location	Deerfield	Providence	Newington	Canada		
District 1						
Lenoxdale RAP 2019	18.7	4.5 F	17.1	18.7		
District 2						
Deerfield RAP 2017	23.0	5.8 F	21.1	23.0		
Deerfield RAP 2018	22.3	5.6 F	20.5	22.3		
Northfield RAP 2019	22.8	5.8 F	21.0	22.8		
District 3						
Millbury RAP 2017	46.8	15.4	44.1	46.8		
Cumberland RAP 2018	17.5	4.2 F	16.0	17.5		
District 4						
Dracut RAP 2017	29.9	8.1 F	27.7	29.9		
Dracut RAP 2018	26.9	7.1 F	24.8	26.9		
Dracut Millings 2017	14.6F	3.4 F	13.3 F	14.6 F		
Dracut Millings 2018	33.3	9.4 F	31.0	33.3		
District 5						
Wrentham RAP 2017	33.3	9.4 F	31.0	33.3		
Acushnet RAP 2017	27.4	7.2 F	25.2	27.4		
Acushnet Millings 2017	29.9	8.1 F	27.7	29.9		

Table 5.2: Predicted allowable percent RAP by dry weight of mixture to maintainblended PG 64-28 binder in mixture

 \mathbf{F} = Failed to have a percentage of RAP greater than or equal to 15%.

5.2 RAP Binder Ratio

The RAP binder ratio (RAPR) is another method for specifying RAP in a mixture. As shown by Equation 1, the following must be known to calculate the RAPBR: binder content of the RAP, percent RAP by dry weight of the mixture, and total binder content in the mixture. Sometimes when specifying a mixture, these properties are not known, thus presenting a potential limitation of this approach. However, it is considered a more accurate approach compared to the percent by dry weight method. In this analysis, a total mixture binder content of 5.5% was used, which corresponds to the binder content for the mixtures outlined in Section 7.0.

As detailed in Table 5.1, at a RAPBR of <0.25, AASHTO M 323 recommends no PG change for the binder used in a mixture. Like the percent by dry weight method, this method is blind to the properties of the RAP and virgin binder at RAPBR <0.25.

The first step to evaluate the RAPBR method was to calculate the maximum RAPBR (RAPBR_{max}) to achieve a specific critical temperature. Using the same recovered RAP binder and virgin binder properties utilized in the previous dry weight method analysis, AASHTO M323 Equation X2.12 (*3*), shown here as Equation 8, allowed for the calculation of the RAPBR_{max} to achieve a specific critical temperature. The T_{Need} were 64°C high temperature, 22°C intermediate temperature, and -28°C low temperature. The low-temperature analysis was the limiting case for all combinations.

$$RAPBR_{max} = \frac{T_{Need} - T_{Virgin}}{T_{RAP} - T_{Virgin}}$$
(8)

Where:

 $RAPBR_{max} = Maximum RAP$ binder ratio.

T_{virgin} = Critical temperature of the virgin asphalt binder (high, intermediate, or low).

 $T_{Need} = Critical$ temperature needed for the climate or pavement layer

(high, intermediate, or low).

 T_{RAP} = Critical temperature of the recovered RAP binder (high, intermediate, or low).

With the $RAPBR_{max}$ values known, the maximum percentage of RAP corresponding to these values could also be calculated. This was done by substituting them back into Equation 1, which was rearranged to calculate the percent RAP by dry weight of the mixture, as shown in Equation 9.

$$\% RAP = \frac{100(RAPBR_{max})(Pb_{Total})}{(Pb_{RAP})}$$
(9)

Where:

 $RAPBR_{max} = Maximum RAP$ binder ratio.

 $Pb_{RAP} = Binder content of RAP.$

% $RAP = P_{RAP}$ = Percent RAP by dry weight of mixture.

 $Pb_{Total} = Total binder content of the mixture (5.5\% for this study).$

The RAPBR_{max} and %RAP are shown in Table 5.3. As presented by this table, many combinations failed to have a RAPBR_{max} of at least 0.25, and a lower criterion could not be established. The percent RAPs are all close to those in Table 5.2, because the binder contents of the RAPs were close to the design binder content of 5.5%. Thus, the two methods essentially provided the same conclusions. Based on this, the only accurate specification would be to require thorough testing of both the RAP and virgin binder to be used in combination with the actual mixture design and production. Simply specifying a cutoff threshold will not accurately ensure that the desired binder properties are obtained.

	Virgin Binder Source							
	Deer	field	Provid	ence	Newin	ngton	Cana	ada
District 1	RAP BR _{max}	% RAP						
Lenoxdale RAP 2019	0.19 F	17.2	0.05 F	4.2	0.17 F	15.7	0.19 F	17.2
District 2								
Deerfield RAP 2017	0.23 F	19.2	0.06 F	4.9	0.21 F	17.6	0.23 F	19.2
Deerfield RAP 2018	0.22 F	19.5	0.06 F	4.9	0.20 F	17.9	0.22 F	19.5
Northfield RAP 2019	0.23 F	20.9	0.06 F	5.3	0.21 F	19.2	0.23 F	20.9
District 3								
Millbury RAP 2017	0.47	44.4	0.15 F	14.6	0.44	41.8	0.47	44.4
Cumberland RAP 2018	0.17 F	16.6	0.04 F	4.0	0.16 F	15.1	0.17 F	16.6
District 4								
Dracut RAP 2017	0.30	31.6	0.08 F	8.6	0.28	29.3	0.30	31.6
Dracut RAP 2018	0.27	27.3	0.07 F	7.2	0.25	25.2	0.27	27.3
Dracut Millings 2017	0.15 F	13.4	0.03 F	3.1	0.13 F	12.2	0.15 F	13.4
Dracut Millings 2018	0.33	29.6	0.09 F	8.3	0.31	27.5	0.33	29.6
District 5								
Wrentham RAP 2017	0.33	35.9	0.09 F	10.1	0.31	33.4	0.33	35.9
Acushnet RAP 2017	0.27	32.7	0.07 F	8.6	0.25	30.2	0.27	32.7
Acushnet Millings 2017	0.30	27.9	0.08 F	7.6	0.28	25.8	0.30	27.9

Table 5.3: RAPBRmax and predicted allowable percent RAP to maintain blended PG 64-28 binder in mixture

 $\mathbf{F} = \text{Failed to have a RAPBR}_{\text{max}}$ of at least 0.25.

5.3 Blending Charts

An alternative way of presenting the data is to calculate the binder properties of the blended binders using AASHTO M 323 Equation X1.11 (3), shown here as Equation 10. RAP percentages of 15%, 25%, and 35 % were used to determine how much RAP could be added while still having some combinations yielding a grade of at least PG 64-28. Part of this data was also needed for the mixture portion of this study. The advantage of this method is that it shows what continuous PG would be provided if a certain percentage of RAP were to be used.

$$T_{Virgin} = \frac{T_{Blend} - (\% RAP \times T_{RAP})}{(1 - \% RAP)}$$
(10)

Where:

 T_{Virgin} = Critical temperature of the virgin asphalt binder (high, intermediate, or low). T_{Blend} = Critical temperature of the blended asphalt binder (high, intermediate, or low). T_{RAP} = Critical temperature of the recovered RAP binder (high, intermediate, or low). % RAP = Percentage of RAP Expressed as a decimal.

Table 5.4 shows that 15% RAP could not be used in 29% of the combinations, which matches what was found in Section 5.1, because the analysis in that section used a threshold of 15% RAP. At 25% RAP, shown in Table 5.5, 60% of the combinations could not be used. At 35% RAP, shown in Table 5.6, 94% of the combinations could not be used. (Note: the percent failure for any other chosen RAP percentage can be ascertained using Table 5.2. For example, at 10% RAP, Table 5.2 shows that 9 of 52 combinations would fail, or 17%, which all involve the Providence virgin binder.)

	Deerfield	Providence	Newington	Canada	
Leastion	virgin	virgin	virgin	virgin	
Location -	Calculate	d Blended Binder G	rade by Equation at 1	15% RAP	
Type/Year					
District I	(0.7(10.1).20.6	70.1(22.1).26.6	(0.1/10.6) 00.0	(0, 5 (10, 0), 0 0, (
Lenoxdale	69./(18.1)-28.6	/0.1(22.1)-26.6	69.1(18.6)-28.3	69.5(19.0)-28.6	
RAP 2019	PG 64-28	PG 70-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
District 2					
Deerfield	68.9(18.0)-29.0	69.3(21.9)-27.1	68.3(18.5)-28.8	68.7(18.9)-29.0	
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Deerfield	68.7(18.1)-29.0	69.1(22.0)-27.0	68.1(18.5)-28.7	68.5(18.9)-29.0	
RAP 2018	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Northfield	68.8(18.0)-29.0	69.1(21.9)-27.0	68.1(18.4)-28.7	68.5 (18.8)-29.0	
RAP 2019	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
District 3					
Millbury	67.5(16.9)-30.0	67.8(20.9)-28.0	66.8(17.4)-29.7	67.2(17.8)-30.0	
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Cumberland	69.6(18.3)-28.4	70.0(22.2)-26.5	68.9(18.7)-28.2	69.4(19.1)-28.4	
RAP 2018	PG 64-28	PG 70-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
District 4					
Dracut	68.6(17.5)-29.4	68.9(21.4)-27.5	67.9(17.9)-29.2	68.3(18.3)-29.4	
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Dracut	68.8(17.8)-29.3	69.1(21.7)-27.3	68.1(18.2)-29.0	68.5(18.6)-29.3	
RAP 2018	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Dracut	70.8(19.1)-27.9	71.2(23.0)-26.0	70.1(19.5)-27.7	70.6(19.9)-27.9	
Millings 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	
Dracut	68.0(17.6)-29.6	68.3(21.5)-27.6	67.3(18.0)-29.3	67.7(18.4)-29.6	
Millings 2018	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
District 5					
Wrentham	67.8(17.2)-29.6	68.1(21.2)-27.6	67.1(17.7)-29.3	67.5(18.1)-29.6	
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Acushnet	68.4(17.6)-29.3	68.7(21.5)-27.4	67.7(18.0)-29.1	68.1(18.5)-29.3	
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	
Acushnet	68.3(17.7)-29.4	68.7(21.6)-27.5	67.7(18.1)-29.2	68.1(18.5)-29.4	
Millings 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28	

Table 5.4: Calculated blended binder grade by AASHTO M 323 blending equation at 15% RAP

Note: Calculated grade in format of High Temp. (Intermediate Temp.) Low Temp. all in °C. \mathbf{F} = Indicates blending chart equation estimated that at least a PG 64-28 binder was not maintained.

	Deerfield Providence N		Newington	Canada
	Virgin	Virgin	Virgin	Virgin
Location -	Calculate	d Blended Binder Gr	ade by Equation at 2	5% RAP
Type/Year	Culculate	a Dicilaca Dillaci Ol	ade of Equation at 2	570 101
District 1				
Lenoxdale	72.4(19.7)-27.0	72.7(23.2)-25.3	71.8(20.1)-26.8	72.2(20.5)-27.0
RAP 2019	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 2				
Deerfield	71.0(19.5)-27.8	71.3(23.0)-26.0	70.4(19.9)-27.5	70.8(20.3)-27.8
RAP 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Deerfield	70.7(19.6)-27.7	71.0(23.0)-25.9	70.1(20.0)-27.4	70.5(20.3)-27.7
RAP 2018	PG 70-22	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Northfield	70.8(19.4)-27.7	71.1(22.9)-26.0	70.2(19.8)-27.5	70.6(20.2)-27.7
RAP 2019	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 3				
Millbury	68.6(17.7)-29.4	68.9(21.2)-27.6	68.0(18.1)-29.1	68.3(18.5)-29.4
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28
Cumberland	72.2(19.9)-26.8	72.5(23.4)-25.0	71.6(20.3)-26.5	71.9(20.7)-26.8
RAP 2018	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 4				
Dracut	70.4(18.6)-28.5	70.7(22.1)-26.8	69.8(19.0)-28.3	70.2(19.4)-28.5
RAP 2017	PG 70-28	PG 70-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 70-28
Dracut	70.8(19.1)-28.2	71.1(22.6)-26.5	70.2(19.5)-28.0	70.6(19.9)-28.2
RAP 2018	PG 70-28	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-28	PG 70-28
Dracut	74.2(21.3)-25.9	74.5(24.7)-24.2	73.6(21.7)-25.7	74.0(22.0)-25.9
Millings 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Dracut	69.4(18.8)-28.7	69.7(22.2)-27.0	68.8(19.1)-28.5	69.2(19.5)-28.7
Millings 2018	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28
District 5				
Wrentham	69.1(18.2)-28.7	69.4(21.7)-27.0	68.5(18.6)-28.5	68.9(19.0)-28.7
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28
Acushnet	70.1(18.8)-28.3	70.4(22.3)-26.5	69.5(19.2)-28.0	69.9(19.6)-28.3
RAP 2017	PG 70-28	PG 70-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28
Acushnet	70.0(18.9)-28.5	70.3(22.4)-26.8	69.4(19.3)-28.3	69.8(19.7)-28.5
Millings 2017	PG 70-28	PG 70-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28

Table 5.5: Calculated blended binder grade by AASHTO M 323 blending equation at $25\%~\mathrm{RAP}$

Note: Calculated grade in format of High Temp. (Intermediate Temp.) Low Temp., all in °C.

 \mathbf{F} = Indicates blending chart equation estimated that at least a PG 64-28 binder was not maintained.

	Deerfield	Providence	Newington	Canada Virgin
Location -	v ii giii	virgin	v ii giii	v ii giii
Type/Vear	Calculate	ed Blended Binder G	rade by Equation at 3	35% RAP
District 1				
Lenoxdale	75.0(21.3)-25.5	75.3(24.3)-24.0	74.0(21.6)-25.3	74.8(21.9)-25.5
RAP 2019	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 2				
Deerfield	73.1(21.0)-26.5	73.4(24.0)-25.0	72.6(21.3)-26.3	72.9(21.7)-26.5
RAP 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Deerfield	72.7(21.1)-26.4	72.9(24.1)-24.9	72.1(21.4)-26.2	72.5(21.7)-26.4
RAP 2018	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Northfield	72.8(20.8)-26.5	73.1(23.8)-25.0	72.3(21.2)-26.3	72.6(21.5)-26.5
RAP 2019	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 3				
Millbury	69.7(18.5)-28.7	69.9(21.5)-27.2	69.1(18.8)-28.5	69.5(19.1)-28.7
RAP 2017	PG 64-28	PG 64-22 F	PG 64-28	PG 64-28
Cumberland	74.7(21.6)-25.1	75.0(24.6)-23.6	74.2(21.9)-24.9	74.5(22.2)-25.1
RAP 2018	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 4				
Dracut	72.2(19.7)-27.5	72.5(22.7)-26.0	71.7(20.0)-27.3	72.0(20.4)-27.5
RAP 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Dracut	72.8(20.5)-27.1	73.1(23.4)-25.6	72.3(20.8)-26.9	72.6(21.1)-27.1
RAP 2018	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Dracut	77.5(23.5)-23.9	77.8(26.5)-22.4	77.0(23.8)-23.7	77.3(24.1)-23.9
Millings 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 76-22 F	PG 76-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Dracut	70.8(19.9)-27.9	71.1(22.9)-26.4	70.3(20.3)-27.7	70.6(20.6)-27.9
Millings 2018	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
District 5				
Wrentham	70.5(19.2)-27.9	70.7(22.2)-26.4	69.9(19.5)-27.7	70.3(19.8)-27.9
RAP 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 64-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Acushnet	71.8(20.0)-27.2	72.1(23.0)-25.7	71.3(20.4)-27.0	71.6(20.7)-27.2
RAP 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F
Acushnet	71.7(20.1)-27.5	72.0(23.1)-26.0	71.2(20.5)-27.3	71.5(20.8)-27.5
Millings 2017	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F	PG 70-22 F

Table 5.6: Calculated blended binder grade by AASHTO M 323 blending equation at35% RAP

Note: Calculated Grade in format of High Temp. (Intermediate Temp.) Low Temp., all in °C.

 \mathbf{F} = Indicates blending chart equation estimated that at least a PG 64-28 binder was not maintained.

5.4 Recommendation

The accuracies of the above methods need to be determined by looking at the performances of actual mixtures incorporating different RAP sources and virgin binder sources. One mixture evaluation is undertaken beginning in Section 7.0 of this report.

This page left blank intentionally.

6.0 Validate Allowable RAP Percentages

The AASHTO recommendations are based solely on mathematical calculations. Thus, it was of interest to verify that the equations accurately predicted that the blended mixture binder would remain at a grade of PG 64-28. One virgin binder was blended with recovered RAP binder from various sources using the maximum percentages of RAP noted in Table 5.2, in a typical 12.5-mm surface layer mixture with 5.5% total asphalt. The ratio of virgin and RAP binder were calculated as shown in Table 6.1, and the binders were blended together (assuming 100% blending). The blended binders were graded in accordance with AASHTO R 29 "Standard Practice for Grading or Verifying the Performance Grade of an Asphalt Binder" and M 320 "Standard Specification for Performance-Graded Asphalt Binder" (*3*) only at the low temperature (the limiting case for all RAPs noted in Section 5.0). Theoretically, if the AASHTO method was accurate, then the binders should grade to be near -28° C.

		01 1111001 0		
Virgin Binder Source	Recovered RAP Binder Source	Equation Predicted Maximum % RAP to Maintain PG 64-28	% Virgin Binder to % Recovered RAP Binder to Make Blended Binder	Measured Low Temperature Continuous Grade
Canada	Millbury RAP 2017	46.8	53.0 / 47.0	-26.0°C
Canada	Cumberland RAP 2018	17.5	82.1 / 17.9	-28.0°C
Canada	Dracut Millings 2017	14.6	87.6 / 12.4	-28.7°C
Canada	Dracut RAP 2017	29.9	73.9 / 29.9	-26.7°C

 Table 6.1: Verification of AASHTO equations prediction of PG 64-28 in blended binder of mixture

The data shown in Table 6.1 indicate that at smaller RAP percentages, this holds true, but as the RAP content increases, it appears the accuracy of the prediction is less, as two blended binders graded to be -26.0°C and -26.7°C instead of at least -28°C. This implies, in terms of specification, that the blended binder grade predicted by the AASHTO equations is not wholly accurate and may only be accurate at smaller RAP percentages. This requires further study with different virgin binders and RAP binders before a definitive conclusion can be made.

This page left blank intentionally.

7.0 Mixture Design with RAP Using Balanced Mix Design Approach

As described in the Introduction, the FHWA BMD Task Force (2) provides three approaches to balanced mixture design (BMD). For this study, the first approach (volumetric and performance) was utilized. MassDOT has been working to develop a protocol under this BMD approach. Currently, MassDOT requires mixtures to meet target volumetric properties in the design phase. MassDOT is looking to add performance components in its BMD protocol to ensure its mixtures are balanced in terms of rutting and cracking. The mixture testing in this study will help evaluate the proposed laboratory performance tests and associated criteria for use in the MassDOT BMD protocol.

For the mixture in this study, two RAP sources and two virgin binders were utilized to fabricate mixture specimens. The RAP sources selected were Dracut Millings 2017 and Millbury RAP 2017, also called the "stiff RAP" and "soft RAP," respectively. The Deerfield and Providence virgin binders were selected for use in the mixture evaluation as they represented the two extremes in terms of the intermediate- and low-temperature continuous grade.

7.1 Mixture Aging Methods

A critical component for consideration in a BMD approach that has not been thoroughly addressed is mixture aging. Aging experienced in the field changes the behavior and performance of an asphalt mixture. It is well known that aging causes asphalt mixtures to stiffen and embrittle, which leads to higher potential for cracking. Hence, to accurately characterize the performance of an asphalt mixture, mixtures should be exposed to aging that represents in-service aging prior to testing. In the industry, aging is commonly considered either short-term or long-term.

7.1.1. Short-Term Aging

The industry standard for guidance to replicate field aging in the laboratory for asphalt mixtures has been AASHTO R 30 "Standard Practice for Mixture Conditioning of Hot-Mix Asphalt"(*3*). In this study, the methods outlined in AASHTO R 30 were followed for the short-term aging for volumetric mixture design and for rutting performance testing.

For volumetric mixture design, AASHTO R 30 specifies that loose mixtures be conditioned in a forced-draft oven for two hours at the mixture's specified compaction temperature prior to compaction.

Rutting is an early-onset distress, meaning it typically occurs early in the life of a pavement. Short-term aging more accurately simulates the aging experienced early in a pavement's life. For rutting performance testing in this study, AASHTO R 30 guidance for short-term conditioning for mechanical property testing was followed. Loose mixtures were placed in a forced-draft oven for four hours at 135°C. After four hours of aging, the mixtures were brought to the compaction temperature and then compacted.

7.1.2. Long-Term Aging

Cracking is a distress that typically occurs later in the life of a pavement. An aging protocol was needed that accurately replicates the field aging experienced by a pavement long-term. AASHTO R 30 provides guidance for long-term aging. First, the loose mixture is short-term aged as noted above (four hours at 135°C and then compacted). The compacted specimens are cooled for 16 hours and then aged in a forced-draft oven for five days (120 hours) at a temperature of 85°C. Although AASHTO R 30 provides protocols for long-term aging of specimens, studies have indicated two specimen integrity problems arise when aging compacted specimens: distortion and oxidation gradient. Reed (10) states that distortion is the change in the specimen air voids due to softening. Houston et al. (11) demonstrated that the long-term oven aging of compacted specimens led to both radial and vertical oxidation. Given these specimen integrity problems, and since accurate aging is so critical for a BMD approach, other methods of laboratory long-term aging were explored.

The findings of NCHRP Project 09-54, "Long-Term Aging of Asphalt Mixtures for Performance Testing and Prediction," propose a laboratory aging procedure that represents the long-term-aged state of asphalt mixtures in a pavement as a function of climate and depth (12). The procedure is capable of calculating laboratory aging durations that match field aging at any pavement depth and geographic location. Furthermore, a series of laboratory aging duration maps to match 4, 8, and 16 years of field aging at depths of 6 mm, 20 mm, and 50 mm below the pavement surfaces were provided. Based on this study, the maps provided by Kim et al. (12) were used to determine the laboratory protocols to simulate long-term aging time duration in days. Under the proposed aging protocol, all mixtures are first short-term aged in a loose state, in accordance with AASHTO R 30 (4 hours at 135°C), and then long-term aging the duration noted on the aging map at 95°C. After long-term aging, the mixture is returned to the compaction temperature and compacted.

Figure 7.1 shows the aging map corresponding to a depth of 20 mm below the pavement surface and 16 years of service life. This map was used to determine the aging duration for intermediate-temperature crack testing, which the map indicated was five days (at 95°C) for Massachusetts. The depth below pavement surface of 20 mm matches the input depth in LTPPBind, which is taken as 20 mm for determining the test temperature for intermediate cracking tests as outlined in AASHTO TP 107-18, "Standard Method of Test for Determining the Damage Characteristic Curve and Failure Criterion Using the Asphalt Mixture Performance Tester (AMPT) Cyclic Fatigue Test," Section 11.3 (3).

Figure 7.2 shows the aging map corresponding to a depth of 6 mm below the pavement surface and 16 years of service life. This map was used to determine the aging duration for the low-temperature (thermal) cracking tests, which the map indicated was 11 days (at 95°C)

for Massachusetts. A depth of 6 mm was considered more accurate for thermal cracking, as it is expected that this type of cracking will occur at or near the surface of a pavement.



Figure 7.1: NCHRP 09-54 recommended aging to match 16 years' field aging at 20 mm below pavement surface



Figure 7.2: NCHRP 09-54 recommended aging to match 16 years' field aging at 6 mm below pavement surface

As shown in Table 7.1, an existing state-approved 12.5 mm nominal maximum aggregate size (NMAS) surface course mixture design that incorporates 15% RAP was selected for the mixture evaluation portion of this study. This mixture has been produced and placed by a contractor in Massachusetts with a PG 64-28 binder and is considered a typical mixture containing 15% RAP. The mixture design met the Superpave requirements outlined in AASHTO M 323 "Standard Specification for Superpave Volumetric Mix Design" and AASHTO R 35 "Standard Practice for Superpave Volumetric Design for Asphalt Mixtures" (*3*). The design ESALs for the mixture were 0.3 to <3 million, and the design Superpave gyratory compactive effort was N_{design}=75 gyrations. The optimum binder content was 5.5 based on volumetrics.

	Percentage	Percentage Passing by Weight				
Sieve Size (mm)	12.5 mm Mixture	12.5 mm Superpave Specification				
19.0	100	100 min				
12.5	94.0	90-100				
9.5	86.0	90 max				
4.75 (No. 4)	61.0	-				
2.36 (No. 8)	42.0	28-58				
1.18 (No. 16)	29.0	-				
0.60 (No. 30)	19.0	-				
0.30 (No. 50)	13.0	-				
0.15 (No. 100)	7.0	-				
0.075 (No. 200)	4.0	2-10				

 Table 7.1: State-approved surface course mixture design used in study

Mixture designs were completed using the two selected RAP sources, namely, Dracut Millings 2017 and Millbury RAP 2017, also called the "stiff RAP" and "soft RAP," respectively, and one PG 64-28 binder, which was the Deerfield continuous grade (CG) 65.8(15.8)-30.9. The gradation of the mixture was held constant while incorporating different amounts of RAP. It was assumed that there was 100% binder contribution from the RAP, which is what is generally assumed for mixture design. Blending analysis is further discussed in Section 10.0. Three amounts of each RAP stockpile were used: 15%, 25%, and 35% RAP.

The mixing and compaction temperatures for the mixtures were determined based on the viscosity of the virgin binder, as outlined in AASHTO T 312 "Standard Method of Test for Preparing and Determining the Density of Asphalt Mixture Specimens by Means of the Superpave Gyratory Compactor," Section 8.1.2.1 for mixing temperature and Section 8.1.7.1 for compaction temperature (*3*). For the PG 64-28 virgin binders in this study, the average mid-range viscosity-based mixing temperature was determined to be 158°C, and the compaction temperature was 146°C. For all mixtures fabricated in this study, the virgin aggregates were heated overnight in an oven at the 158°C mixing temperature. Then, RAP

was added on top of the heated aggregate for two hours prior to mixing with the virgin binder. This process was undertaken to more closely simulate actual mixing that occurs at the plant. After mixing, the mixture aging was conducted, as noted in Section 7.1. After aging, the mixture specimens were returned to the compaction temperature and compacted in the Superpave Gyratory Compactor (SGC).

As noted previously, the first FHWA-recommended BMD approach utilized in this study requires that mixtures must meet target volumetric properties and performance testing criteria. The volumetric requirements are listed in AASHTO M 323 "Standard Specification for Superpave Volumetric Mix Design" (3), with the only difference being the requirement for the VMA, where MassDOT adds 1% to the AASHTO M 323 requirement. The primary performance test used by MassDOT during mixture design is the Hamburg Wheel Tracking Test (HWTT) for rutting. MassDOT specifies a maximum rut depth of 12.5 mm after 20,000 passes at 45°C combined with no stripping inflection point (SIP) before 15,000 passes. MassDOT is currently researching which cracking test(s) to use for its BMD protocol, but Flexibility Index (FI) is currently being used to evaluate the cracking susceptibility of highperformance mixtures incorporating polymer at intermediate temperatures. This test was used for the cracking performance evaluations in this study with a test temperature of 25°C. The developers of the FI proposed that an FI of greater than 8.0 be used as a pass/fail criterion (13). Both tests will be described in greater detail in Section 8.0. Although MassDOT guidelines for the FI only require the mixture design specimens be short-term aged as outlined in Section 7.1.1., additional mixture evaluations were completed using long-term aging as outlined in Section 7.1.2. The volumetric and performance results (after short-term aging) are shown in Table 7.2.

For mixtures with 15% RAP, regardless of the RAP source used, the mixtures met the required volumetric and performance requirements. As RAP was increased to 25%, the use of the softer RAP source yielded a mixture passing the volumetric and performance requirements. The use of the stiffer RAP source yielded a mixture with higher-than-targeted air voids (4.8%), while all other requirements were met. Moving up to 35% RAP, neither mixture passed all requirements.

At 35% RAP, using the softer RAP yielded a mixture with 14.5% VMA, which failed to meet the minimum 15% VMA required by MassDOT specification but passed the VMA required by Superpave for a 12.5 mm mixture, which is 14%. Using the stiffer RAP source yielded a mixture with higher-than-targeted air voids (5.2%), while all other requirements were met. In total, three of the six combinations met all BMD requirements. The remaining mixtures failed for volumetric reasons (air voids or VMA specified by MassDOT). These failing mixtures were included in further mixture analyses for a variety of reasons. First, the mixture failing the MassDOT VMA requirement easily passed the Superpave VMA requirement, so it was still a passing Superpave mixture design. Second, for the third BMD approach suggested by FHWA, mixtures would only have to meet target performance criteria regardless of the volumetric properties of the mixture. All mixtures passed the required performance testing, meaning under this third approach, all would be approved as BMDs. Finally, the air voids of two mixtures with the stiffer RAP were not 4.0% but were within the acceptable production target for acceptance testing for MassDOT, which is $4\pm1.3\%$, or from 2.7% to 5.3%. In a production scenario, these mixtures would be considered to have acceptable air voids and thus worthy of further analysis in this study.

Overall, it is noteworthy that RAP source had a pronounced effect on mixture air voids. The stiffer RAP showed a trend of increased air voids as the amount of RAP increased, while the air voids remained nearly constant for the softer RAP. This is relevant to one of the objectives of this study, which was to determine what changes are needed to the current MassDOT specification for RAP use in surface mixtures. If the complete set of test data shows that an increase in RAP is justified, the MassDOT specification must be revised to address the fact that higher amounts of RAP from different sources may not always yield acceptable volumetric properties.

RAP Source = Stiff RAP PG94-10 [99.3(37.7)-11.0]								
	15%	25%	35% RAP	Criteria				
	RAP	RAP		Chiena				
Volur	netric Prop	oerties						
Air Voids, %	4.2	4.8	5.2	4%				
Voids in Mineral Aggregate (VMA), %	15.5	15.9	15.9	15% min.*				
Voids Filled with Asphalt (VFA), %	73.1	69.9	67.2	65-78%				
Dust to Binder Ratio	0.95	0.96	1.00	0.6-1.2				
Perfo	rmance - R	utting						
HWTT rutting at 20,000 passes, mm	3.3	3.0	2.4	< 12.5 mm**				
HWTT Stripping Inflection Point	NONE	NONE	NONE	-				
Perfor	mance - Cr	acking						
Average FIT Flexibility Index (FI) @ 25°C	14.5	11.8	9.4	≥8.0**				
RAP Source = Soft	RAP PG76	-22 [76.8(2	3.4)-24.7]					
	15%	25%	35% RAP	Critorio				
	RAP	RAP		Cinteria				
Volur	netric Prop	oerties						
Air Voids, %	3.9	3.9	3.9	4%				
Voids in Mineral Aggregate (VMA), %	15.3	15.0	14.5	15% min.*				
Voids Filled with Asphalt (VFA), %	74.6	74.0	73.2	65-78%				
Dust to Binder Ratio	0.94	0.98	1.02	0.6-1.2				
Performance - Rutting								
HWTT rutting at 20,000 passes, mm	1.8	2.0	2.2	< 12.5 mm**				
HWTT Stripping Inflection Point	NONE	NONE	NONE	-				
Performance - Cracking								
Average FIT Flexibility Index (FI) @ 25°C	8.8	10.6	10.7	≥8.0**				

Table 7.2: Mixture design using BMD approach – volumetric properties and
performance

* MassDOT specifications require a 1% increase in VMA as presented here.

** Specimens were short-term aged.

8.0 Dynamic Modulus and Mixture Performance Testing

To evaluate the effect of RAP characteristics and virgin binder source on the performance of asphalt mixtures, mixture stiffness and performance testing were conducted using the Superpave 12.5 mm design outlined in Section 7.0. As stated previously, two RAP sources were selected and used, which were Dracut Millings 2017 and Millbury RAP 2017, also called the "stiff RAP" and "soft RAP," respectively. These RAPs represent the extremes in terms of RAP binder properties in the state. The Deerfield [CG 65.8 (15.8) -30.9] and Providence [CG 66.2 (20.4) -28.6] binders were selected for use in the mixture evaluation, as they represented the two extremes in terms of the intermediate- and low-temperature binder continuous grade.

8.1 Dynamic Modulus |E*|

The dynamic modulus, which gives an indication of the overall mixture stiffness at a specific temperature and loading frequency, was determined for each mixture in accordance with AASHTO TP 132 "Standard Method of Test for Determining the Dynamic Modulus for Asphalt Mixtures Using Small Specimens in the Asphalt Mixture Performance Tester (AMPT)" (*3*). The data was used to develop the dynamic modulus master curve for each mixture in accordance with AASHTO R 84 "Standard Practice for Developing Dynamic Modulus Master Curves for Asphalt Mixtures Using the Asphalt Mixture Performance Tester (AMPT)" (*3*). One 180-mm-tall specimen was compacted using the Superpave Gyratory Compactor (SGC). Four testing specimens were then cored and cut to the final test specimen dimensions of 38 mm in diameter and 110 mm in height. The target air voids of these specimens were $7\pm1\%$. Specimens were conditioned overnight at 4°C and then tested for dynamic modulus at loading frequencies of 10, 1, and 0.1 Hz. The specimens were next conditioned at 20°C for a minimum of one hour and tested again at the same loading frequencies of 10, 1, and 0.1 Hz. Finally, the specimens were conditioned at 40°C for between one and two hours and tested at loading frequencies of 10, 1, and 0.1 Hz.

The master curves for the mixture fabricated with stiff RAP are shown in Figure 8.1 and for the soft RAP are shown in Figure 8.2. The Deerfield virgin binder [CG 65.8 (15.8) -30.9] and Providence virgin binder [CG 66.2 (20.4) -28.6] were used to fabricate the specimens. The data indicates in both cases that the stiffness of the mixture is both a function of the amount of RAP and the virgin binder utilized. Larger amounts of RAP yield mixture with higher stiffness. This increased stiffness may indicate that these mixtures may be more susceptible to distresses like cracking.

Figure 8.3 shows a comparison of the same mixture fabricated with the same virgin binder (Providence binder), but with the two different RAP sources. The master curves indicate that the use of stiff RAP yielded a mixture that was stiffer than the same mixture fabricated with the soft RAP at each RAP percentage tested. This suggests that mixture stiffness is also a

function of the individual property of the RAP utilized. Utilizing the stiffer RAP may yield mixture with higher stiffness and thus may be more susceptible to distresses like cracking.



Figure 8.1: Master curves for mixtures fabricated with "stiff" RAP source



Figure 8.2: Master curves for mixtures fabricated with "soft" RAP source



Figure 8.3: Master curves comparison, "stiff " vs. "soft" RAP source

Overall, the mixture master curve data derived from the dynamic modulus tests suggests that the amount of RAP, the properties of the binder in the RAP, and the virgin binder utilized all have an effect on the overall mixture stiffness. Thus, these variables can have a profound effect on the overall performance of the mixture. Mixture performance will be evaluated in subsequent sections of this report.

8.2 Hamburg Wheel Tracking Test for Rutting and Moisture Susceptibility

The Hamburg Wheel Tracking Test (HWTT) is the test used by MassDOT to evaluate a mixture's resistance to rutting and moisture susceptibility. This test was conducted in accordance with AASHTO T 324 "Standard Method of Test for Hamburg Wheel-Track Testing of Compacted Asphalt Mixtures" (3). Test specimens were prepared by compacting loose mixtures, after short-term aging, in the SGC to a 150 mm diameter by a 60 mm height while achieving $7.0\pm1.0\%$ air voids.

Four compacted specimens are placed in two HWTT molds, placed side by side under water, and tested at 45°C according to MassDOT requirements. The specimens are subjected to repeated loading provided by a 158 lb. steel wheel. Specimens were tested at a rate of 52 passes/min. after a soak time of 30 min. at 45°C. As the steel wheel loads the specimen, the corresponding rut depth of the specimen is recorded. From this rut depth data, the stripping inflection point (SIP) can be determined. The SIP gives an indication of the onset of moisture damage in the mixture. Prior to the SIP, or in the absence of a SIP, the rut depth can give an indication of the rutting performance of the mixture.

All new mixture designs must meet the MassDOT HWTT specification criteria after acceptable volumetric criteria properties are obtained. The MassDOT criteria are a maximum rut depth of 12.5 mm after 20,000 passes combined with no SIP before 15,000 passes at 45°C.

Table 8.1 illustrates the results from the HWTT test. This is a pass/fail test. All mixtures met the passing criteria, indicating that RAP source, virgin binder source, and RAP content had no effect on the rutting and moisture susceptibilities (no stripping inflection point) of these mixtures. Hence, for the BMD, all mixtures stayed balanced in terms of rutting.

RAP Source	PG 64-28 Virgin Binder Source	% RAP Specified by Weight	RAPBR	Stripping Inflection Point (SIP)	Maximum Rut Depth at 20,000 Passes (mm)
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	None	3.3
Droout Millings	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	None	2.4
Stiff RAP	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.27	None	3.0
(99.3-11.0)	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.27	None	2.5
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.38	None	2.4
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.38	None	2.0
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	None	1.8
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	None	1.4
Millbury Soft RAP	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.26	None	2.0
PG 76-22 (76.8-24.7)	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.26	None	1.3
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.37	None	2.2
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.37	None	1.3

Table 8.1: HWTT test results at 45°C (short-term aged)

CG = Continuous Grade

8.3 Asphalt Pavement Analyzer for Rutting

In the HWTT test, the mixture specimens are tested under load in heated water for both rutting and moisture susceptibility, which makes it a very rigorous test to evaluate mixtures. Even though no moisture damage was noted in any specimen tested and corresponding rut depths were low, the rutting results were confirmed in a separate test that evaluates rutting alone. The Asphalt Pavement Analyzer (APA) was selected for rutting evaluation because MassDOT is exploring it as a rutting test for its bridge mixtures. Furthermore, the APA evaluates the rutting susceptibility of mixtures differently than the HWTT. The HWTT test is a loaded wheel test conducted in heated water, whereas the APA is a loaded pressurized hose test conducted in heated air. Both tests provide a means to evaluate rutting potential.

APA testing was conducted in accordance with AASHTO T 340 "Standard Method of Test for Determining Rutting Susceptibility of Hot-Mix Asphalt (HMA) Using the Asphalt Pavement Analyzer (APA)" (3). Four specimens, 75 mm tall, were fabricated in the SGC to a

desired air void level of $7\pm0.5\%$. Prior to testing, these mixture specimens were conditioned for a minimum of six hours at the 64°C test temperature, which corresponds to the typical high temperature PG for Massachusetts. The APA hose pressure for testing was 100 psi, and the constant load on the hose was 100 lbs. per the specification. Testing was conducted for 8,000 cycles, and the average rut depth was calculated.

Specimens were fabricated using the soft RAP with the Providence virgin binder. This combination yielded the lowest stiffness mixture as shown in the mixture master curve in Figure 8.2. Lower stiffness generally indicates a mixture more susceptible to rutting. If this mixture passed the rutting test, there would be no justification to test the other combinations as they had higher stiffness and also already passed the more rigorous HWTT test.

The average APA rut depth for the specimens fabricated using the soft RAP with the Providence virgin binder was 5.3 mm, which was below the 8.0 mm threshold suggested for mixtures with the design gyration level of $N_{design}=75$ gyrations (the design gyration level of the 12.5 mm mixture for this study). This confirms that the mixtures exhibited acceptable rutting performance and remained balanced in terms of rutting.

8.4 Flexibility Index for Intermediate Temperature Cracking

The Flexibility Index (FI) is used to evaluate an asphalt mixture's susceptibility to cracking at intermediate temperatures. This test was conducted at 25° C and in accordance with AASHTO TP 124 "Standard Method of Test for Determining the Fracture Potential of Asphalt Mixtures Using Semicircular Bend Geometry (SCB) at Intermediate Temperature" (*3*).

It should be noted that the research team attempted to test the mixtures at 15°C, as that is the typical intermediate-testing temperature in Massachusetts. However, the data obtained were unrealistic, as the loading curve was nearly a straight line downwards after the peak load was reached, and the corresponding FI value was close to zero. Further investigation showed that testing the mixtures at 15°C would require the loading rate to be changed. Hence, for this test, it was decided to test at the temperature that is typically being used, which is 25°C, instead of exploring changing the test parameters that are listed in the AASHTO TP 124.

The specimens needed for this test were compacted in the SGC to a height of 180 mm. Two 50 mm slices were cut from the middle of each specimen. Each slice was cut in half across the diameter to yield four specimens. Subsequently, each specimen had a 15 mm vertical notch cut up from the midpoint of the base of each specimen. The target air-void level was $7.0\pm1.0\%$. A minimum of eight specimens were tested for each mixture.

In this test, the specimen is placed on two rollers on its flat side. A monotonic load is applied along the vertical diameter of a notched semicircular mixture specimen at a displacement rate of 50 mm/min. (14), and a load vs. displacement curve is obtained. From this curve, two

cracking properties are obtained, fracture energy (FE) and flexibility index (FI). FE is calculated using the work of fracture method by finding the area under the load-displacement curve and dividing it by the crack propagation area. The FI accounts for both fracture energy and the post-peak behavior of a mixture. Methods for determining FE and FI are detailed in other studies (14). Both FE and FI give an indication of a mixture's intermediate-temperatures cracking performance, with a higher value being more desirable. A preliminary criterion for the FI was set at a minimum of 8.0 by the developer of the test for mixtures fabricated after short-term aging.

Tables 8.2 and 8.3 show the results of the FI and FE after short-term and long-term aging, respectively. These results from short-term aging were used to make sure, using the preliminary criterion of 8.0 for FI, that the mixtures were balanced in terms of cracking at intermediate temperatures. To investigate the effects of RAP source, virgin binder source, and RAP content, it was decided to test mixtures after long-term aging, as it is expected that intermediate-temperature cracking would not occur during the early part of a pavement service life. Since there is no set pass/fail criterion for this test after long-term aging, statistical analysis was implemented in Section 9.0 to investigate the effects of the mentioned parameters on the FI and FE results.

RAP Source	PG 64-28 Virgin Binder Source	% RAP Specified by Weight	RAPBR	Average Flexibility Index (FI)	Average Fracture Energy (J/m ²)
Dracut Millings Stiff RAP PG 94-10 (99.3-11.0)	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	14.5	2,039
		25%	0.27	11.8	2,148
		35%	0.38	9.4	2,219
Millbury Soft RAP PG 76-22 (76.8-24.7)		15%	0.16	8.8	1,734
	CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.26	10.6	1,803
		35%	0.37	10.7	1,905

Table 8.2: SCB FIT test results at 25°C (short-term aged)

 $\overline{CG} = Continuous Grade$

RAP Source	PG 64-28 Virgin Binder Source	% RAP by Wgt	RAPBR	Blended Intermediate CG	FI	FE (J/m ²)
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	23.0	3.3	1,907
Dracut	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	23.0	1.9	1,782
Millings Stiff RAP	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.27	21.3	3.3	1,830
PG 94-10 (99.3-11.0)	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.27	24.7	2.0	1,773
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.38	23.5	2.7	1,933
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.38	26.5	1.0	1,332
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	16.9	3.4	1,816
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	20.9	3.7	1,801
Millbury Soft RAP	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.26	17.7	3.8	1,882
PG 76-22 (76.8-24.7)	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.26	21.2	2.6	1,685
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.37	18.5	3.7	1,829
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.37	21.5	2.6	1,700

Table 8.3: SCB FIT test results at 25°C (long-term aged)

CG = Continuous Grade

8.5 Indirect Tension Asphalt Cracking Test for Intermediate Temperature Cracking

The Indirect Tension Asphalt Cracking Test (IDEAL-CT) is a fracture test developed by Zhou et al. (15) under NCHRP IDEA Project 195: "Development of an IDEAL Cracking Test for Asphalt Mix Design, Quality Control (QC), and Quality Assurance (QA)." This test has been outlined in ASTM standard D8225-19 "Standard Test Method for Determination of Cracking Tolerance Index of Asphalt Mixture Using the Indirect Tensile Cracking Test at Intermediate Temperature" (7).

Similar to the traditional Indirect Tension (IDT) strength test, the IDEAL-CT is performed at an intermediate temperature with cylindrical specimens and at a loading rate of 50 ± 2 mm/min. The specimen size is 150 mm in diameter and 62 mm in height with 7 ± 0.5 percent air voids. Three specimens were compacted and tested for each mixture in this study. All specimens were tested at a temperature of 15° C, which is the calculated typical intermediate

temperature for Massachusetts as outlined in AASHTO TP 107-18 "Standard Method of Test for Determining the Damage Characteristic Curve and Failure Criterion Using the Asphalt Mixture Performance Tester (AMPT) Cyclic Fatigue Test," Section 11.3 (3). A major feature of the IDEAL-CT is the simplicity of preparing lab specimens: no cutting, coring, gluing, notching, or instrumentation.

A fracture mechanics-based cracking index, CT_{Index} , was recommended to characterize the cracking resistances of asphalt mixtures using this test. CT_{Index} is calculated from parameters obtained using the load-displacement curve. The higher the CT_{Index} , the better the cracking resistance. Table 8.4 shows the results from the IDEAL-CT test.

To investigate the effect of RAP source, virgin binder source, and RAP content on the resistance of the mixtures to cracking at intermediate temperatures, the mixtures were long-term aged, as it was expected that this type of cracking will not occur at the early part of a pavement service life. Since there are no set pass/fail criteria for this test after long-term aging, statistical analysis was implemented in Section 9.0 to investigate the effects of the RAP source, virgin binder source, and percent RAP on the CT_{Index} and FE results.

RAP Source	PG 64-28 Virgin Binder Source	% RAP by Wgt.	RAPBR	Blended Intermediate CG	CT Index	FE (J/m ²)
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	23.0	15.2	10,378
Droout Millings	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	23.0	9.7	8,543
Stiff RAP	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.27	21.3	15.5	11,241
(99.3-11.0)	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.27	24.7	6.4	8,398
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.38	23.5	9.9	10,416
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.38	26.5	2.8	7,468
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	16.9	15.4	10,032
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	20.9	11.9	9,141
Millbury Soft RAP	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.26	17.7	22.1	10,267
PG 76-22 (76.8-24.7)	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.26	21.2	16.9	9,857
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.37	18.5	13.6	9,693
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.37	21.5	17.3	10,131

Table 8.4: IDEAL-CT test results at 15°C (long-term aged)

CG = Continuous Grade
8.6 Disc-Shaped Compact Tension for Low-Temperature Cracking

The Disc-Shaped Compact Tension (DC(T)) test was utilized to evaluate the effect of RAP source, virgin binder source, and RAP content on the BMD in terms of thermal cracking. SGC specimens were compacted to a height of 180 mm for each mixture.

Two 50 mm slices were cut from the middle of each specimen. Each slice was further prepared by coring and notching it in accordance with ASTM D7313 "Standard Test Method for Determining Fracture Energy of Asphalt-Aggregate Mixtures Using the Disk-Shaped Compact Tension Geometry" (7). The target air-void level of the specimens was $7.0\pm1.0\%$. Minimum threshold DC(T) fracture energies have been developed based on pavement investigations of thermally induced cracks under a FHWA Pooled Fund Study on low-temperature cracking (16). The thresholds for low, medium, and high traffic levels were set at 400, 460, and 690 J/m², respectively, at a test temperature that is 10°C warmer than the low-temperature PG, which was -28°C in this study.

The average test results using four test replicates of each mixture after long-term aging are shown in Table 8.5. These results are after long-term aging. Similar to the FI and the IDEAL-CT tests, statistical analysis was used in Section 9.0 to evaluate the effect of RAP source, virgin binder source, and RAP content on the thermal cracking of the mixtures.

RAP Source	PG 64-28 Virgin Binder Source	% RAP by Wgt	RAPBR	Blended Low Temperature CG	FE (J/m ²)
Dracut Millings Stiff RAP PG 94-10 (99.3-11.0)	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	-27.9	443
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	-26.0	333
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.27	-25.9	537
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.27	-24.2	418
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.38	-23.9	397
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.38	-22.4	360
Millbury Soft RAP PG 76-22 (76.8-24.7)	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	15%	0.16	-30.0	479
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	15%	0.16	-28.0	371
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	25%	0.26	-29.4	474
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	25%	0.26	-27.6	382
	Deerfield CG (65.8 -30.9)	35%	0.37	-28.7	478
	Providence CG (66.2-28.6)	35%	0.37	-27.2	403

Table 8.5: DC(T) test results at -18°C (long-term aged)

CG = Continuous Grade.

This page left blank intentionally.

9.0 Analysis of Performance Test Results

A three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) is a statistical method used to determine the effects of three independent variables on a dependent variable. In this study, the analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software to determine the effects of RAP source, virgin binder source, and percent RAP on the performance of the mixtures tested. As presented in Table 9.1, virgin binder source had a significant effect on all five measures of performance. RAP source and percent RAP had a significant effect on the FI and the CT_{Index}, which are the two intermediate cracking performance measures being explored by MassDOT to incorporate in a BMD protocol. The analyses also showed that there is an inconsistency among the four intermediate-temperature cracking performance measures, except that virgin binder source has a significant effect. Thus, for example, if an agency decided to use the FE instead of the FI from the FI test, then RAP source would have no significant effect based on these data.

Variable	FI Test FI	FI Test FE	IDEAL CT _{Index}	IDEAL FE	DC(T) FE
RAP Source	SIG	-	SIG	-	-
Virgin Binder Source	SIG	SIG	SIG	SIG	SIG
Percent RAP	SIG	SIG	SIG	-	-

Table 9.1: ANOVA statistical analysis summary – three cracking tests

SIG = Statistically significant at a 95% level.

The mixture test data were also used to validate the findings of the analyses involving the blended binders in Section 5.0. Based on Table 5.2, for the mixture designed with RAP from Dracut millings 2017 (stiff RAP) combined with the virgin binder from Providence, CG [66.2(20.4)-28.6], the maximum percent RAP by weight of dry mixture was 3.4% to maintain PG 64-28. Using the virgin binder from Deerfield, CG [65.8(15.8)-30.9], it was 14.6%. Hence, using more than 15% RAP in this mixture would cause the blended binder to fail the low-temperature PG for PG 64-28. For the mixtures designed with RAP from Millbury 2017 (Soft RAP) and the virgin binder from Providence, CG [66.2(20.4)-28.6], the maximum percent RAP by weight of dry mixture was 15.4% to maintain PG 64-28. Using the virgin binder from Deerfield, CG [65.8(15.8)-30.9], it was 46.8%. Hence, the overall range in allowable percent RAP was 3.4% to 46.8%, while the range in the low-temperature CGs for the blended binders in these mixtures as presented in Table 8.5 was -22.4°C to -30.0°C. Based on this wide range, it was expected that the DC(T) would provide some significant differences in low-temperature cracking properties. However, as presented by Tables 8.5 and 9.1, many of the average fracture energies were close to each other, although virgin binder source did have a significant effect. The virgin binder from Providence, CG [66.2(20.4)-28.6], provided lower average fracture energies, which would mean poorer performance including at 15% RAP, which agrees with the findings presenting in Section 5.0 on the properties of the blended binders. Even so, the overall r squared (r^2) was 0.18, indicating a

poor relationship between the blended low-temperature CG and the fracture energies measured by the DC(T).

The range in the intermediate-temperature CGs for the blended binders as presented by Tables 8.3 and 8.4 was 16.9°C to 26.5°C. Based on this wide range, it was expected that the FI and IDEAL CT_{Index} would provide some significant differences in intermediatetemperature cracking properties. However, as presented by Tables 8.3 and 9.1, the average FIs were close to each other, although RAP source, virgin binder source, and percent RAP did have a significant effect on the FI. Similar to this, Tables 8.4 and 9.1 show that RAP source, virgin binder source, and percent RAP had a significant effect on the IDEAL CT_{Index} . The softer RAP generally provided better performance, according to both the FI and CT_{Index}. The virgin binder from Providence, CG [66.2(20.4)-28.6], tended to provide poorer performance than the virgin binder from Deerfield, CG [65.8(15.8)-30.9], according to both the FI and CT_{Index}. Increased percent RAP tended to provide poorer performance using the FI, while there was no trend using the CT_{Index} . The r² values between the blended intermediate-temperature CG and the FI and IDEAL CT_{Index} were poor at 0.61 and 0.67, respectively. While part of this could be due to variability in the degree of blending in the mixtures, a good correlation would not be expected based on the closeness of the mixture test results.

Because of the closeness of the mixture test data within each test, no additional mixture tests were warranted. Furthermore, the findings indicated if additional mixtures using the other RAP and virgin asphalt binder sources were to be tested to evaluate the 15% RAP specification, all of them would probably perform similarly.

10.0 Degree of Blending Between RAP and Virgin Binder in Mixtures

For mixtures incorporating RAP, the term "blending" refers to how much of the aged RAP binder actually is activated and comingles with the virgin binder to make up the total binder content in a mixture. This is sometimes referred to as the amount of RAP binder activation, diffusion, mobilization, or contribution. Throughout this study, up to this analysis section, it was assumed that 100% blending occurred between the aged RAP binder and the virgin binder in the mixture. This is a common industry assumption currently made for mixtures with smaller RAP contents (i.e., <15% RAP by dry weight of mixture).

10.1 Background

Blending within a mixture is believed to occur to three varying cases. In the first case, the RAP binder is so highly aged and hardened that it contributes no binder to the total binder content of a mixture. This is a zero-blending condition, also known as the "black rock" condition. The second case, on the other end of the extreme, is the fully blended condition. In this condition, the RAP binder is able to fully activate and mix with the virgin binder, therefore contributing 100% of the RAP binder to the total binder content of the mixture. The third case lies somewhere between these two extremes of zero and 100% blending. This is referred to as partial blending. This is a scenario in which some, but not all, of the RAP binder is activated and mixes with the virgin binder.

Determining this degree of partial blending is of significant importance for mixture design and performance evaluation. This importance increases as more RAP is incorporated in a mixture. Mixtures incorporating RAP that have less than the 100% blending assumption will in actuality have less total binder than needed in the mixture. This will result in a mixture more susceptible to distresses related to low binder content, including cracking and moisture susceptibility. In order to remedy these deficiencies, more virgin binder will need to be added to the mixtures to meet volumetric and performance thresholds. This should be addressed during the mixture design phase.

The major hurdle for the asphalt industry has been how to accurately quantify the amount of partial blending that occurs within a mixture. Many methodologies have been attempted to evaluate partial blending, but for the majority they only provide a qualitative evaluation (i.e., good vs. poor blending), with no definitive value determined. While this information is somewhat useful in a general sense, it does not provide mix designers the quantitative value needed to ensure the binder content needed in a mixture to prevent distresses is achieved. Furthermore, designers and specifiers need to know how the individual properties of different RAPs (performance grade, binder content, etc.) impact the degree of partial blending. The blending analysis in this study attempted to address these critical issues of blending quantification and determining the impacts of RAP properties on partial blending in a mixture.

10.2 Selection of Blending Analysis Method

There have been many chemical and mechanical approaches undertaken to investigate RAP binder blending in a mixture. These approaches include the binder-marked methods, difference-identified methods, staged extraction methods and indirect pavement performance measured methods (17). Perhaps the most commonly utilized method, a mechanical approach, has been to determine the quality of blending indirectly by comparing the measured mixture dynamic modulus to a dynamic modulus predicted from the Hirsch model. This predicted dynamic modulus is based on the rheological properties (complex modulus) of the recovered binder from the mixture incorporating RAP (18). The largest limitation of a majority of any of these methods is that blending is evaluated mostly indirectly and qualitatively, which leads to questions about their accuracy.

Recently, more direct blending evaluation methods using microscopic techniques have been presented for evaluating the micromorphology of blending zone between the aged RAP binder and virgin binder in a mixture. These include blending zone morphology (19) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) combined with computer tomography (20). The studies using these methods have focused on the diffusion characteristics between the RAP and virgin binders or used specially engineered mixtures that did not represent the actual blending experienced in real mixtures (19,20). Thus, these approaches have limited value in quantifying blending. Recently, in 2016, researchers began using the microscopic techniques on actual RAP mixtures simulating real-world blending conditions, not mixtures that were artificially created to simulate a specific blending condition (21). The researchers evaluated blending in high RAP mixtures using energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDS) scanning electron microscopy.

EDS allows for the detection of elements within a specimen, in this case an asphalt mixture specimen. The EDS mapping feature also allows for the determination of the distribution and proportion of the elements at specific locations within the specimen. Since an asphalt binder is elementally comprised of carbon and sulfur, a tracer element must be added to one of the binder types (RAP or virgin) so that they can be distinguished from one another in a sample. In the aforementioned study (*21*), the researchers used a titanium dioxide (TiO₂) powder tracer element at a dose of 20% to distinguish between RAP and virgin binders. The tracer element was blended with the virgin binder prior to specimen fabrication. Therefore, in the mixture sample, virgin binder was identified as areas with both carbon and titanium. RAP binder alone, that did not blend with the virgin binders consisted of both carbon and titanium, but at lower concentrations than the purely virgin binder areas. It is also worth noting that the aggregate areas of the specimens were composed primarily of silica, so they were dissimilar from the binder areas in terms of elemental composition.

In the Castorena et al. study (21), two different HMA mixtures incorporating 50% RAP were fabricated using different fabrication procedures (varying aggregate heating temperature, aging time, etc.). EDS samples were prepared, and mapping was conducted on small portions of the mixture specimens in the vicinity of known RAP aggregates. Blending analysis was conducted by comparing the carbon element maps (representing asphalt areas) and titanium

element maps (indicating the presence of virgin binder) in these areas. Qualitatively speaking, the presence of titanium in the carbon area in near vicinity to the known RAP aggregate provided evidence of blending. The absence of titanium in this area suggested there was no blending or very poor blending. This research provided a framework to be able to quantify the degree of blending in a mixture. This could be accomplished by comparing the element mass ratio of titanium to carbon (Ti:C) in different regions near known RAP aggregates within the mixture. Due to its potential to be able to quantitatively measure the blending between RAP and virgin binders, this EDS SEM approach was utilized for this study.

A separate experimental plan was developed for the blending analysis attempted for this study, as shown in Figure 10.1. Like the aforementioned study, a tracer element was added to the virgin binder and the appropriate dose was determined. This traced virgin binder was then used to fabricate two sets of mixtures for EDS SEM analysis, both with identical gradations and total binder contents. One set of mixtures was fabricated to represent a true 100% blended condition. This was accomplished by extracting and recovering the RAP binder and aggregates. The recovered RAP binder was added to the traced virgin binder and then fully blended. This blended binder was then used in conjunction with recovered RAP aggregates and virgin aggregates to fabricate specimens. Thus, these specimens were known to have binders that were 100% fully blended. The second set of mixtures were fabricated using typical lab fabrication procedures which are outlined in Section 7.2. They represented the actual partial blending condition that occurs between the RAP and virgin binder. EDS mapping of areas near known RAP aggregates was performed for each set of mixtures in multiple locations. By comparing the EDS-determined average titanium to sulfur element mass ratio (Ti:S) of the actual blended specimens to 100% blended specimens, a quantitative value of blending could be determined. This ratio was originally proposed by Jiang et al. (22).

As noted previously, it was important to not only try to quantify the amount of blending but also understand the impacts of RAP properties on blending. Thus, three separate RAP stockpiles were selected to be used for this analysis that represented the extremes in differing RAP binder properties (i.e., "stiff" versus "soft" and higher binder content RAP). Each set of mixtures was developed at RAP percentages of 15%, 25%, and 40%. The 15% and 25% levels correspond to the RAP levels used throughout this study for the other analysis and performance testing. The higher RAP percentage was increased to 40% from 35% to get the maximum extreme amount of RAP that could be used in the mixture while maintaining the same mixture gradation as all the other mixtures tested. Mixtures incorporating more than 40% RAP would be different in terms of gradation and therefore could not be compared to the other mixtures tested.



Figure 10.1: Blending analysis methodology

10.3 Materials Used for Blending Analysis

This section outlines the material used for the blending analysis, including the tracer element, virgin binder, RAPs, and virgin aggregates.

10.3.1. Tracer Element

Previous research studies (23, 24) have indicated that titanium dioxide nanoparticles could be a tracer element for virgin asphalt used in chemical microanalysis, due to their high surface area and small size. These properties allow the titanium dioxide nanoparticles to distribute and separate more uniformly inside the asphalt matrix, as compared to the titanium dioxide powder that was used in the previously mentioned study by Castorena et al. (21). Therefore, the tracer element selected for use in this study was a commercial titanium dioxide (TiO₂) nanoparticle with 99.5% purity, 40 nm average particle size, and surface area of 35 m²/g.

10.3.2. Virgin Binder

One virgin binder was selected for the blending analysis, Providence PG 64-28 [66.2 (20.4) - 28.6]. This binder was used in the specification analysis and mixture performance evaluation discussed previously. The binder represents the warmest extreme in terms of the intermediate- and low-temperature continuous grade of all the virgin binders tested. The other properties of this binder are outlined in Section 4.0.

10.3.3. RAP Selection

Three RAP sources were selected for the blending analysis. Two RAP sources were selected and used, Dracut Millings 2017 and Millbury RAP 2017, also called the "stiff RAP" and "soft RAP," respectively. These RAPs represent the extremes in terms of RAP binder properties in the state. These RAPs were used for the specification analysis and mixture performance evaluation discussed previously. These RAPs were used to evaluate the effects of RAP binder properties (i.e., stiffness) on the blending in the mixture. The third RAP stockpile selected was Deerfield RAP 2017. This RAP stockpile had the largest binder content of any source tested, based on the ignition oven results (6.6%). This RAP was used to determine any effects on blending in the mixture due to more available binder from the RAP. All other RAP property information is available in Section 3.0. Finally, it is noteworthy that all recovered RAP aggregates were gray in color. This was important so that the RAP aggregates could be easily identified in the cut specimen and was an integral part in selecting the areas to analyze with the EDS mapping. The RAP aggregates' gray color easily contrasted to the pink color of the virgin aggregate source.

10.3.4. Virgin Aggregates

The same virgin aggregate stockpile sources (12.5 mm crushed stone, 9.5 mm crushed stone, stone sand, and washed sand) that were used to design and develop the 12.5 mm mixtures previously evaluated in this study were used for this blending analysis. Details on the mixture design are located in Section 7.2. The aggregates from this source were pink in color and were easily distinguishable from the RAP aggregates in the mixture, which were a gray color.

10.4 Specimen Fabrication and Preparation

10.4.1. Tracer Element Dose Determination

The first step in the mixture fabrication process was to determine the appropriate dose of the tracer element (TiO₂ nanoparticles). It was important to maximize the dose of the tracer element introduced into the specimen while simultaneously ensuring the rheological properties of the virgin binder were not changed significantly. Maximizing the tracer dose ensured that there would be an adequate concentration of the tracer element in the specimen so that it was easily detectable with EDS.

The tracer element was added to the Providence PG 64-28 binder at dosage rates of 4%, 6%, 8%, 10%, 12%, and 14% by total weight of the binder. These dosage rates were developed based on simple trial and error, as the previous study used a much larger dose (20%) of the powdered TiO_2 tracer element (21). For each dosage trial, the tracer element was blended into the virgin binder using a high shear mixer. The mixing process was divided into two phases. First, the tracer element was gradually added to the heated virgin asphalt (160°C) at a speed of 2,000 rpm. This addition process was completed within 15 minutes and the temperature was maintained at 160°C. Second, the mixing speed was then increased in the high shear mixer to 5,000 rpm. Mixing continued at this speed for 30 minutes to obtain a homogenous blended asphalt binder with tracer element particles thoroughly dispersed. This is referred to as the "traced" virgin binder in this study. The original Providence PG 64-28 virgin binder and the traced virgin binders were then evaluated in a suite of binder tests to characterize their fundamental rheological properties in accordance with AASHTO M320 (3). The results are shown in Table 10.1. The properties of each traced virgin binder were compared to the original Providence PG 64-28 binder in order to determine the maximum tracer element dose that could be used without significantly changing the original binder properties.

The results shown in Table 10.1 suggest that incorporating the tracer element, at any percentage, resulted in a marginal increase in the viscosity and high temperature stiffness $(G^*/\sin(\delta))$ of the traced virgin binders as compared to the original binder. This variation led to some small increases in the high temperature continuous grades, but the differences in values were generally low (< 1.5 °C except at 14% tracer element, which was 2.1 °C). The continuous grades at intermediate and low temperatures, and performance grades, were similar between all binders at a tracer element dose less than 14%. The 14% tracer element dose yielded a binder with low temperature creep stiffness (299 MPa) very close to the 300 MPa threshold outlined in AASHTO M320; thus, this binder was borderline graded to -28°C. Therefore, because of the overall relatively small changes in binder properties, the tracer element dose that most closely maintained the properties of the original virgin binder as shown in Table 10.1.

	Spec.	Test Temp.	Original Virgin	Original Virgin Virgin Binder Traced wi						
		(°C)	Binder	4%	6%	8%	10%	12%	14%	
		Binder	Tests Result	ts in Origi	nal Cond	lition				
$G^*/\sin(\delta)$	> 1.0	64	1.34	1.52	1.50	1.54	1.56	1.55	1.72	
(kPa)	Pa) > 1.0	70	0.65	0.73	0.73	0.74	0.76	0.75	0.83	
Viscosity	2.0	135	0.44	0.49	0.49	0.52	0.55	0.55	0.58	
(Pa-s)	< 5.0	165	0.12	0.14	0.14	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.16	
Binder Tests after RTFO Aging										
$G^*/\sin(\delta)$		64	3.50	3.62	3.64	3.75	3.84	3.63	4.05	
(kPa)	> 2.2	70	1.65	1.71	1.71	1.75	1.8	1.72	1.91	
Binder Tests after RTFO and PAV Aging										
$G^* \propto \sin(\delta)$	<5,000	22	4,070	3,670	3,860	4,400	4,097	4,475	4,320	
(kPa)		19	5,940	5,260	5,640	6,400	5,933	6,555	6,545	
BBR Creep	< 300	-18	250	256	268	275	289	291	299	
Stiffness (MPa)		-24	476	515	515	600	590	587	588	
BBR	> 0.3	-18	0.306	0.300	0.301	0.303	0.307	0.310	0.306	
<i>m</i> -value		-24	0.232	0.252	0.244	0.240	0.245	0.247	0.249	
Binder Grading										
High Temp. Continuous Grade (°C)			66.4	67.4	67.4	67.5	67.7	67.6	68.5	
Intermediate Temp. Continuous Grade (°C)			20.5	19.5	20.1	21.1	20.5	21.2	21.1	
Low Temp. Continuous Grade (°C)			-28.5	-28.0	-28.1	-28.3	-28.3	-28.3	-28.0	
Performance Grade			64-28	64-28	64-28	64-28	64-28	64-28	64-28	

Table 10.1: Average original and traced virgin binder properties

RTFO = Rolling Thin Film Oven; PAV = Pressure Aging Vessel; BBR = Bending Beam Rheometer

10.4.2. Mixture Design and Fabrication Details

As noted previously, two separate sets of mixture types were fabricated for blending analysis using the traced PG 64-28 virgin binder with a 12% tracer element dose. The traced virgin binder for mixture fabrication was prepared as outlined for the trial tracer element doses in Section 10.4.1. Each mixture set was developed with 15%, 25%, and 40% RAP using the three different RAP sources. One set of mixtures was fabricated to represent a true 100% blended condition. This was accomplished by extracting and recovering the RAP binder and aggregates. The recovered RAP binder was added to the traced virgin binder and then fully blended. This blended binder was then used in conjunction with recovered RAP aggregates and virgin aggregates to fabricate specimens. Thus, these specimens were known to have binders that were 100% fully blended. The second set of mixtures were fabricated using typical lab fabrication procedures. They represented the actual partial blending condition that

occurs between the RAP and virgin binder. In total, 18 mixtures were fabricated (2 mixture types {100% blended & actual blended} x 3 RAP sources x 3 RAP contents).

Mixture gradation and the optimum binder content were held constant for all mixtures. Mixture gradation was maintained by sieving the virgin materials to individual sieve sizes. As more RAP was introduced into the mixture, the amount of virgin material at each sieve size could be adjusted up or down to exactly maintain the gradation. The details of the mixture designs can be found in Section 7.2, with the details of typical mixture fabrication procedures (mixing temperature, RAP heating procedures, compaction details, etc.). Each mixture was short-term aged in accordance with AASHTO R 30 (*3*) as outlined in Section 7.1.1., which specifies the loose asphalt mixture is conditioned at 135°C for four hours, then brought to the compaction temperature and compacted.

Mixture specimens were compacted using the SGC to final dimensions of 80 mm in height and 150 mm in diameter. The target air voids were $4.0\% \pm 0.5\%$. From these SGC specimens, EDS SEM specimens were obtained as shown in Figure 10.2.



Figure 10.2: Sample preparation for EDS SEM analysis

First, the ends of the SGC specimens were trimmed to yield a specimen with a cylindrical height of 55 mm. Next, using a 20 mm core drill bit, small cores were drilled from around the inner perimeter of the specimen. Then, small slices (3 to 4 mm in thickness) were taken from each of these cores. These slice specimens were then allowed to completely dry. Four different specimen slices were then selected for EDS analysis of each mixture type. A Denton vacuum coater was then used to sputter the top surface of each of the selected specimens with 20 nm of gold to make them conductive and avoid charging the sample surface. This step was critical for EDS testing. These sputtered samples were then attached to the cylindrical holder using double-stick carbon tape and were then ready for testing and analysis.

10.5 Blending Analysis Using EDS SEM Microanalysis

To conduct the blending analysis, a Jeol USA JSM-5610LV scanning electron microscope with an Oxford Instruments 6587 energy dispersive X-ray spectrometer was used. A magnification of $500 \times$ was used with an accelerating voltage of 20 kV.

First, an element mapping analysis was performed to evaluate the dispersion quality of tracer element in the binder region inside each mixture specimen slice. Element mapping compresses both the topographic and compositional information into a single view by utilizing the X-ray spectrums, detected by the EDS, over the selected region of the sample. A color response map can then be constructed showing the elemental distribution (*25*). Figure 10.3 shows an example of the SEM image and corresponding silica, carbon, sulfur and titanium elemental maps in an area around a known aggregate. Note that the aggregate particles can be identified by the silica element ,while asphalt binder is identified by both carbon and sulfur elements. Figures 10.3c and Figure 10.3d show the strong correlation between carbon and sulfur which are inherently present in the asphalt binder as the maps appear visually similar. Now, by comparing the titanium element map shown in Figure 10.3e with carbon or sulfur element maps, it was concluded that the tracer element (TiO₂ nanoparticles) was distributed fairly evenly within the asphalt binder, as the map took a similar shape to the carbon and sulfur maps. Thus, it was confirmed that tracer element was dispersed in the mixture sample.

Next, EDS testing was conducted to determine the partial degree of blending in the specimen. This was accomplished through EDS testing at different locations on the surface of the specimen slices corresponding to each companion mixture set. Each set had mixture specimen slices representing the 100% blended condition and the actual blended condition for each RAP source and at each RAP content. If only a qualitative evaluation of blending was required, then only mixtures in the actual blended condition would need to be tested. In order to quantify blending, testing of known 100% blended specimens was also required.





The two different mixture sets were identical in terms of their components, with the exception of binder blending state inside between the RAP and virgin binder. For the 100% blended condition specimens, the two binders were manually forced to form a homogeneous 100% blend. The actual blended-condition specimens were produced using the normal mixing methods which represent the actual degree of blending state between the RAP and

virgin binder. Since the virgin binder traced with the trace element (TiO₂ nanoparticles) was used in fabrication of both mixture sets, the state of blending was evaluated by detecting the titanium concentration inside the asphalt (carbon and sulfur areas) near to the known RAP aggregates (gray aggregates). In the actual blended specimens, if the RAP and virgin binders did not blend during the production process of the mixture, titanium would not be detected (i.e., the Ti:S mass ratio equals zero). Detecting higher titanium to sulfur (Ti:S) value in the vicinity of the RAP aggregate in these specimens provided qualitative evidence of better blending between the two binders. In order to make a quantitative blending evaluation (i.e., degree of partial blending), the Ti:S mass ratios determined for the actual blended condition and the 100% blended condition specimen were utilized as shown in Equation 11.

Degree of Partial Blending (%) =
$$\frac{(Ti:S)_{Actual Blended}}{(Ti:S)_{100\% Blended}} * 100$$
 (11)

Where:

(Ti:S) _{Actual Blended} = Titanium to sulfur mass ratio in actual blended mixture specimens adjacent to the RAP aggregate.

(Ti:S) $_{100\% Blended}$ = Titanium to sulfur mass ratio in 100% blended mixture specimens adjacent to the RAP aggregate.

EDS elemental spectrum data was collected for both the actual and 100% blended condition specimens, an example of which is shown in Figure 10.4. From this spectrum data, the titanium to sulfur ratio (Ti:S) mass ratio was calculated. This data was used to calculate the partial degree of blending in each mixture set due to RAP source and RAP content, as shown in Equation 11. The average degree of blending was calculated based on 12 observations (three different locations per specimen for four specimens slices per mixture). It should be noted that some RAP surfaces within a test specimen could be without aged binder, as the milling process can fracture the aggregate, leaving an uncoated surface. In this scenario, only virgin binder would coat these surfaces, and there would be no blending due to the absence of the aged binder. Thus, the measured titanium to sulfur (Ti:S) mass ratio corresponding to this situation was eliminated to accurately measure the degree of blending. In this study, this case was identified if (Ti:S)_{Actual Blended} was greater than (Ti:S)_{100% Bended}.



Figure 10.4: Example of EDS element spectrum plots for actual blended and 100% blended specimens

10.6 Blending Results

The average blending results are shown in Figure 10.5. The average degree of partial blending ranged from 77% to 95% for all mixtures tested. This indicates that the assumption of 100% blending that is a common industry assumption is not accurate. At the current specification limit of 15% RAP by dry weight limit, the average degree of blending ranged from 90% to 95% in the mixtures tested, suggesting that the 100% blending assumption at this RAP content is close to the actual partial blending that occurs. However, as the RAP content was increased in the mixtures, the 100% blending assumption became more inaccurate. Much lower degrees of blending were observed for the 40% RAP content mixtures (77% to 84%). This clearly demonstrated that the 100% blending assumption is inaccurate and the degree of blending was reduced as the RAP content was increased, regardless of the RAP source used.



Figure 10.5: Average degree of partial blending results

In terms of the RAP source impact on blending, it was observed that the degree of blending was generally higher when the softer RAP was used at each RAP content. As the amount of RAP was increased, this trend was more pronounced with the stiffer RAP exhibiting less blending. This demonstrates that all RAP sources will not behave the same in the mixture and cannot be treated equally. Testing of each individual RAP stockpile's properties is needed to account for these binder property differences during the design phase.

No definitive conclusions could be made regarding the use of a higher binder content RAP source. It was anticipated that this RAP source may have less blending due to more aged RAP binder being available in the mixture. However, the blending observed was on a level similar to that of the softer RAP source with a lower binder content (5.8% compared to

6.6%). Further investigations with other RAP sources with higher binder contents are needed to understand this occurrence.

Overall, based on the mixtures tested, the blending analysis suggests that the assumption of 100% blending between RAP and virgin binders is inaccurate. Furthermore, the degree of blending in a mixture appears to be a function of both the amount of RAP used in a mixture and the properties of the RAP source. This demonstrates there is a need to test the properties of the RAP that is used at any percentage in any mixture.

11.0 Conclusions

Based on the testing and analysis presented in this study, the following conclusions were determined.

11.1 RAP Properties

- The ignition oven-determined binder content was generally greater than the centrifuge extraction binder content. For the majority, the ignition oven- and centrifuge-determined binder contents were within $\pm 0.5\%$.
- Testing of extracted and recovered RAP binder indicated that the PGs of the RAPs in Massachusetts varied from PG 76-22 to PG 94-10. MSCR data indicated that the majority of the RAP binders were suitable for E (extremely high) traffic level, while one was a V (very high) traffic level. LAS tests indicated that the fracture resistance of the RAP binders varied based on source.
- RAP maximum theoretical specific gravity (G_{mm}) varied between and within the districts. When the RAP aggregate specific gravity is estimated from the G_{mm}, sample volumetric calculations indicated that the RAP G_{mm} has significance on the final calculated mixture volumetric properties. At the currently specified 15% RAP, some mixtures fail to meet the required VFA.
- The values of the measured aggregate specific gravity for the RAP stockpiles were consistently lower than those that were calculated from the RAP G_{mm} . Sample volumetric calculations indicated that two of the RAP stockpiles would yield mixtures failing the VMA requirement of >15%, but all mixtures passed the VFA requirement. In terms of RAP specifications, MassDOT should decide which method is preferred for determining the specific gravity of the RAP aggregate, as each method will yield mixtures with different volumetric properties, and not all may conform to current volumetric thresholds.
- Generally speaking, the recovered RAP aggregate gradations obtained post-ignition oven were finer than the those obtained after chemical extraction. This is likely due to the fact that aggregates will break down during the ignition oven process.
- Some RAP stockpiles exhibited high variability in gradation on certain sieve sizes, with some sieve sizes having standard deviations of 10 measurements greater than 10%. If the limits proposed in NCHRP Report 752 were to be incorporated into the future specification, these stockpiles would not be uniform enough for suitable use. The current MassDOT specification does not address RAP stockpile variability, thus allowing for potentially highly variable stockpiles to be used. This would result in nonconforming mixtures being produced, with potentially reduced volumetric and performance characteristics.
- The properties of the RAPs did not vary greatly from year to year, except for the Dracut millings. The recovered RAP binder grade went from very stiff at PG 94-10 to much less stiff at PG 76-22. This demonstrates that RAP properties must be tested thoroughly every season or when new RAP is processed. Another complication is that

sections of a particular stockpile may have RAPs with different properties. Moreover, RAP stockpile properties cannot be accurately determined without knowing the properties of the RAP binder. The current MassDOT specification does not account for these properties at low RAP contents ($\leq 15\%$).

11.2 Virgin Binder Properties

- Massachusetts has four regional suppliers of PG 64-28 asphalt binder that currently serve the state. Testing confirmed the grade of each of the binders to be PG 64-28. One binder source had intermediate- and low-temperature continuous grades close to the specification criterion. This will have an impact on the capacity of this virgin binder to accommodate RAP in any mixture, because the aged RAP binder might not make the blended binder PG 64-28.
- MSCR rutting performance data indicated that all virgin binders are suitable for S (standard) traffic levels. LAS results indicate that the fracture resistance of the virgin binders varied based on source, with one source exhibiting a reduced fatigue performance as compared to the remaining binders tested.

11.3 Allowable RAP Percentage and Blending Equations

- The current MassDOT specification, which allows up to 15% RAP in surface mixtures by dry weight of the mixture without using a softer-grade virgin binder or blending equations, was not valid based on blended binder properties. Analyses using AASHTO blending equations and laboratory-determined RAP and virgin binder properties indicated that 28.9% of the time, the required PG 64-28 would not be maintained. The disparity between the estimated amounts of allowable RAP that would maintain PG 64-28, ranging from 3.1% to 46.8%, shows the high influence of RAP source and virgin binder sources on the amount of RAP that can be added to a mixture. Therefore, a specification change for MassDOT is warranted.
- Utilizing the RAPBR for specifying RAP in lieu of the percent by dry weight of the mixture produced similar results. The reason is that the binder contents of the RAPs were all close to the design binder content of 5.5%.
- Blended binder grading to validate the allowable RAP percentage determined by the AASHTO blending equations indicated that at smaller RAP percentages, the low temperature -28°C grade (limiting case) is maintained, but as the RAP content increases, it appears the accuracy of the prediction is less accurate, with actual temperature being warmer than -28°C. In terms of specification, this implies that the blended binder grade predicted by the AASHTO blending equations is not wholly accurate and may only be accurate at smaller RAP percentages.

11.4 Mixture Design

• RAP source had a pronounced effect on mixture air voids. The stiffer RAP showed a trend of increased air voids as the amount of RAP increased, while the air voids remained nearly constant for the softer RAP. MassDOT specification must be revised to address the fact that higher amounts of RAP from different sources may not always yield acceptable volumetric properties.

11.5 Mixture Stiffness and Performance Tests

- Mixture master curve data derived from the dynamic modulus tests suggest that the amount of RAP, the properties of the binder in the RAP, and the virgin binder utilized all have an effect on the overall mixture stiffness. Mixtures with higher stiffness may be more prone to distresses like cracking. Softer mixes may be more prone to distresses like rutting.
- A statistical analysis of the mixture test data indicated universally that virgin binder source significantly impacted all cracking performance measures. RAP source and percent RAP also had a significant effect on the FI and the CT Index, which are the two intermediate cracking measures being explored by MassDOT to incorporate in a BMD protocol. However, there was inconsistency among all of the cracking performance tests, except that virgin binder source has a significant effect.
- Although the low- and intermediate-temperature mixture test results often showed that RAP source, virgin binder source, and percent RAP had a significant effect, the lack of pass/fail criteria for these tests precluded stating exactly which mixtures were balanced or unbalanced. Furthermore, the closeness of the mixture test data for each test prevented suggesting any pass/fail criteria even though the percent RAP ranged from 15% to 35% with no soft asphalts or rejuvenators being used. Although it was assumed that the degree of blending in the mixture study was 100%, if it was not always this, it would be expected that this additional variable would have increased the range in the mixture test results. Based on these findings, the mixture tests appear to be deficient for use in a BMD using the current protocols. Still, the significant effects of certain variables indicate that both low- and intermediate-temperature properties must be considered when incorporating RAP in a mixture.

11.6 Blending

• Blending analysis using the EDS indicated that the assumption of 100% blending between RAP and virgin binders is inaccurate. Furthermore, the analysis illustrated that the degree of blending in a mixture is a function of RAP content, source, and properties.

This page left blank intentionally.

12.0 Recommendations

The following recommendations are made based on the testing and analysis in this study:

- MassDOT should choose which method is preferred for determining the specific gravity of the RAP aggregate (estimated from maximum theoretical specific gravity or directly measured). The utilization of either method will yield mixtures with different volumetric properties, and not all may conform to current volumetric thresholds. This should be added into the specification for using RAP at any percentage.
- Testing showed some RAP stockpiles with high aggregate gradation variability. The current MassDOT specification does not address RAP stockpile variability, thus allowing for potentially nonconforming mixtures being produced. The limits proposed in NCHRP Report 752 for aggregate gradation could be used as a starting point in the specification to address this variability.
- Certain properties of the RAPs, specifically PG of the recovered RAP binder, did vary from year to year for the same RAP stockpile. The current MassDOT specification does not account for these properties at low RAP contents (≤15%). It is suggested to incorporate into the specification mandatory testing and documentation of the recovered RAP binder properties (continuous and performance grade) at a specific frequency of time interval or tonnage.
- As important as RAP property variability, virgin binder properties based on source were just as influential on the performance of the resultant mixtures. The capacity of a mixture to accommodate RAP is a function of these properties. It is suggested to revise the specification to determine the continuous and performance grade of the virgin binder being used for a specific project in lieu of verifying the grade, which is the common practice currently. Determining the grade is more accurate than verification and will give an indication of the capacity to add RAP to a mixture.
- Overall, a three-tiered approach is needed to properly specify RAP in a mixture even at RAP contents ≤15%:
 - 1. The properties of the RAP including binder content, recovered binder grade, etc., and virgin binder properties need to be determined. Appropriate RAP and virgin binder tests and their frequency need to be established.
 - 2. AASHTO blending charts equations need to be utilized to estimate if the desired blended binder properties are obtained and to assist in properly limiting the amount of RAP.
 - 3. After the appropriate RAP content is determined, the actual mixture to be produced must be tested to ensure adequate performance after appropriate aging that is related to the in-service aging experienced.

As shown in this study, the mixture performance test results were not always significantly impacted by the same variables, except for virgin binder source. Thus, it is important for MassDOT to have confidence in the mixture performance tests used and their pass/fail criteria. MassDOT has been utilizing a rutting/moisture susceptibility test successfully for years but needs to select and appropriate cracking

test(s) and associated thresholds. Using this type of three-tiered approach should help ensure that quality mixtures are produced and the amount of RAP utilized is appropriate to maintain performance.

• It is recommended to implement the three-tiered approach in a multiphase methodology. It is imperative to make sure that the resources are available to implement the suggested recommendation.

13.0 References

- 1. Copeland, A. *Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement in Asphalt Mixtures: State of the Practice.* Publication FHWA-HRT-11-021. Federal Highway Administration, 2011.
- 2. National Center for Asphalt Technology (NCAT). Moving Towards Balanced Mix Design for Asphalt Mixtures. *Asphalt Technology News*, Vol. 29, No. 1, Spring 2017.
- 3. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Standard Specifications for Transportation Materials and Methods of Sampling and Testing and AASHTO Provisional Standards. AAASHTO, Washington, D.C., 2019.
- 4. Mogawer, W., K. D. Stuart, A.J. Austerman, F. Zhou, and P. Romero. Balanced Mix Design Sensitivity to Production Tolerance Limits and Binder Source. *Journal of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologist*, Vol. 88, 2019.
- 5. West, R. *Best Practices for RAP and RAS Management*. Quality Improvement Series 129. National Asphalt Pavement Association (NAPA), Lanham, MD, Dec. 2015.
- West, R., J.R. Willis, and M. Marasteanu. *Improved Mix Design, Evaluation, and Materials Management Practices for Hot Mix Asphalt with High Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement Content.* National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Report 752, Transportation Research Board of the National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C., 2013.
- American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). Section 4 Construction: Volume 04.03 Road and Paving Materials; Vehicle-Pavement Systems. In *Annual Book of Standards*, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2019.
- Anderson, M., G. King, D. Hanson, and P. Blankenship. Evaluation of the Relationship between Asphalt Binder Properties and Non-Load Related Cracking. *Journal of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologist*, Vol. 80, 2011, pp. 615– 661.
- 9. NCAT. The Delta Tc Parameter: What Is It and How Do We Use It? Spring 2017b. http://www.eng.auburn.edu/research/centers/ncat/newsroom/2017-spring/deltatc.html. Accessed Sept. 9, 2019.
- 10. Reed, J. Evaluation of the Effects of Aging on Asphalt Rubber Pavements. M.S. Thesis. Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, 2010.
- 11. Houston, W. N., M.W. Mirza, C.E. Zapata, and S. Raghavendra. *Environmental Effects in Pavement Mix and Structural Design Systems*. NCHRP Web-Only Document 113. Transportation Research Board of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Washington, D.C., 2005.
- 12. Kim, Y.R., C. Castorena, E. Elwardany, F.Y. Rad, S. Underwood, A. Gundla, P. Gudipudi, M. Farrar, and R. Glaser. *Long-Term Aging of Asphalt Mixtures for Performance Testing and Prediction*. NCHRP Report 871. Transportation Research Board of the National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C., 2018.
- Al-Qadi, I., H. Ozer, J. Lambros, A. El Khatib, P. Singhvi, T. Khan, J. Rivera, and B. Doll. *Testing Protocols to Ensure Performance of High Asphalt Binder Replacement Mixes Using RAP and RAS*. Publication FHWA-ICT-15-017. Illinois Department of Transportation, Dec. 2015.

- 14. Ozer, H., I. Al-Qadi, J. Lambros, A. Khatib, P. Singhvi, and T. Khan. Development of a Fracture-Based Flexibility Index for Asphalt Concrete Cracking Potential Using Modified Semi-Circle Bending Test Parameters. *Construction and Building Materials*, Vol. 115, 2015, pp. 390–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2016.03.144
- 15. Zhou, F., S. Im, L. Sun, and T. Scullion. Development of an IDEAL Cracking Test for Asphalt Mix Design and QC/QA. *Journal of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologist*, Vol. 86, 2017, pp. 549–578.
- 16. Marasteanu, M., K.H. Moon, E.Z. Teshale, A.C. Falchetto, M. Turos, W. Buttlar, E. Dave, G. Paulino, S. Ahmed, S. Leon, H. Bahia, H., A. Arshadi, H. Tabatabaee, J. Ojo, R. Velasquez, S. Mangiafico, C. Willaims, and A. Buss. *Investigation of Low Temperature Cracking in Asphalt Pavements National Pooled Fund Study Phase II.* Final Report. Minnesota Dept. of Transportation,, St. Paul, MN, 2012.
- Orešković, M., G.M. Pires, S, S. Bressi, K. Vasconcelos, and D.L. Presti. Quantitative Assessment of the Parameters Linked to the Blending Between Reclaimed Asphalt Binder and Recycling Agent: A Literature Review. *Construction and Building Materials*, Vol. 234, Feb. 2020.
- Booshehrian, A., W.S. Mogawer, and R. Bonaquist. How to Construct an Asphalt Binder Master Curve and Assess the Degree of Blending between RAP and Virgin Binders. ASCE Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, Vol. 25, No. 12, Dec. 2013.
- 19. Nahar, S.N., M. Mohajeri, A.J.M. Schmets, A. Scarpas, M.F.C Van de Ven, and G. Schitter. First Observation of Blending-Zone Morphology at Interface of Reclaimed Asphalt Binder and Virgin Bitumen. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2370, 2013, pp.1–9.
- Rinaldini, E., P. Schuetz, M.N. Partl, G. Tebaldi, and L.D. Poulikakos. Investigating the Blending of Reclaimed Asphalt with Virgin Materials Using Rheology, Electron Microscopy and Computer Tomography. *Composites Part B: Engineering*, Vol. 67, 2014, pp.579–587.
- Castorena, C., S. Pape, and C. Mooney. Blending Measurements in Mixtures with Reclaimed Asphalt: Use of Scanning Electron Microscopy with X-Ray Analysis. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2574, 2016, pp. 57–63.
- 22. Jiang, Y., X. Gu, Z. Zhou, F. Ni, and Q. Dong. Laboratory Observation and Evaluation of Asphalt Blends of Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement Binder with Virgin Binder Using SEM/EDS. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2672, 2018, pp.69–78.
- Hassan, M.M., L.N. Mohammad, S.B. Cooper III, and H. Dylla. Evaluation of Nano– Titanium Dioxide Additive on Asphalt Binder Aging Properties. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2207, 2011, pp. 11–15.
- Mohammad, L., M. Hassan, and S. Cooper. Mechanical Characteristics of Asphaltic Mixtures Containing Titanium-Dioxide Photocatalyst. *ASTM Journal of Testing and Evaluation*, Vol. 40, No. 6, 2012, pp. 998–1005.
- 25. Friel, J.J., and C.E Lyman. Tutorial Review: X-ray Mapping in Electron-beam Instruments. *Microscopy and Microanalysis*, Vol. 12, 2006, pp. 2–25.